
 

VIRGINIA BOARD FOR ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS 

Tentative AGENDA  

 

THURSDAY, AUGUST 24, 2023, 9:00 A.M. 

BOARD ROOM 2—SECOND FLOOR 

 

DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL REGULATION 

PERIMETER CENTER—9960 MAYLAND DRIVE 

RICHMOND, VA  23233 

 
 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

 

II. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURES 

 

III. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

a.  Board Agenda, August 24, 2023 

 

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a. Board Meeting Minutes, May 11, 2023 

b. Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee Minutes, May 31, 2023 

c. Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee Minutes, July 13, 2023 

d. Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee Minutes, August 9, 2023 

 

V. DPOR STAFF UPDATES 

 

VI. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD – Five minute public comment, per person,  on those items 

not included on the agenda with the exception of any open  disciplinary or application files 

 

VII. CASE FILES * 

a. File Number 2022-02331 Blackwell, William Bruce (HI) 

Prima Facie (Salva) 

b. File Number 2023-00012 Wang, Lixin (HI) 

Consent Order (Cranor) 

c. File Number 2023-02240 Wilkins, Tywone Lovell (ASB) 

Licensing—IFF by Jackson-Bailey 

d. File Number 2023-02401 Maradiaga, Lilians C. (ASB) 

Licensing—IFF by Jackson-Bailey 

e. File Number 2023-02452 Black, Brandon J. (HI) 

Licensing—IFF by Jackson-Bailey  

  

VIII. REGULATIONS 

a. Regulatory Action Update 

b. Consider Authorizing NOIRA and Committee Membership for Lead Based Paint Activities 

General Review 

c. Discussion of Proposed Regulations for Home Inspector Licensing General Review 

d. Consider Committee Recommendations for Amendment of Asbestos Licensing Regulations 

and Adopt Proposed Regulations 

 

IX. OTHER BUSINESS 

a. 2023 Legislative Update 

b. Consider Board Policy on Continuance of Case File Decisions 

c. Consider 2024 Meeting Dates 

d. Consider Resolution for Service 

g. Board Financial Statements 



h. Outreach Update 

i. Other Board Business 

  

 

X. FUTURE MEETING DATES 

a. November 30, 2023 

 

XI. COMPLETE CONFLICT OF INTEREST FORMS AND TRAVEL VOUCHERS  

 

XII. ADJOURN 

 

Persons desiring to participate in the meeting and requiring special accommodations or interpretative services 

should contact the Department at (804) 367-0362 at least ten days prior to the meeting so that suitable 

arrangements can be made for an appropriate accommodation.  The Department fully complies with the 

Americans with Disabilities Act. 

 

* Agenda materials made available to the public do not include disciplinary case files or application files 

pursuant to §54.1-108 of the Code of Virginia. 



PERIMETER CENTER CONFERENCE CENTER 
EMERGENCY EVACUATION OF BOARD AND TRAINING ROOMS 

(Script to be read at the beginning of each meeting.) 
 

PLEASE LISTEN TO THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS ABOUT EXITING THE PREMISES IN THE EVENT OF AN EMERGENCY. 
 
In the event of a fire or other emergency requiring the evacuation of the building, alarms will sound.   
When the alarms sound, leave the room immediately.  Follow any instructions given by Security staff 
 
Board Room 1  
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.  Upon exiting the room, turn RIGHT.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
Board Room 2 
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room. (Point)  Upon exiting the room, turn RIGHT.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
You may also exit the room using the side door, turn Right out the door and make an immediate Left.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
Board Rooms 3 and 4 
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.    Upon exiting the room, turn RIGHT.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
Training Room 1  
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.  Upon exiting the room, turn LEFT.  Follow the corridor 
to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
Training Room 2  
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.  Upon exiting the doors, turn LEFT.  Follow the corridor 
to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
 



 

VIRGINIA BOARD FOR 

ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS 

MEETING MINUTES 

 

 

The Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors met on May 11, 2023, at the 

offices of the Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation (DPOR), Perimeter 

Center, 9960 Mayland Drive, 2nd Floor, Board Room 3, Richmond, Virginia 23233. 

 

 

The following members of the Board were present: 

 

Stacy J. Armentrout 

Sandra Baynes, Chair 

Douglas Burgess 

John E. Cranor, Vice-Chair 

 

James E. Haltigan 

Gene Magruder 

Kevin Salva 

Patrick Studley 

 

Board members Chadwick Bowman, Sharad Tandale, Paul D. Thomas, and Louis Walker were 

not present at the meeting. 

 

The following staff members were present for all or part of the meeting: 

 

Demetrios J. Melis, Director 

Trisha L. Lindsey, Executive Director 

Stephen Kirschner, Licensing and Regulatory Programs Division Deputy Director 

Tanya M. Pettus, Board Administrator 

Raven C. Custer, Administrative Coordinator 

 

Joshua Laws from the Office of the Attorney General was present. 

 

Ms. Baynes, finding a quorum of the Board present, called the 

meeting to order at 9:01 a.m. 

Call to Order 

  

Ms. Lindsey advised the Board of the emergency evacuation 

procedures. 

Emergency 

Evacuation 

Procedures 

  

Ms. Lindsey requested the Board amend the agenda to remove 

“Legislative Update” under Other Business. Mr. Magruder moved 

to approve the agenda as amended.  Mr. Salva seconded the motion 

which was unanimously approved by:    Armentrout, Baynes, 

Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, Salva, and Studley. 

Approval of Agenda 

  

Mr. Armentrout moved to approve the minutes of the February 6, 

2023, Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee meeting. Mr. Studley 

seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:    

Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, Salva, 

and Studley 

Approval of 

Minutes 
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Mr. Magruder moved to approve the minutes of the February 9, 

2023, Board meeting. Mr. Armentrout seconded the motion which 

was unanimously approved by:   Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, 

Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, Salva, and Studley 

  

Ms. Lindsey introduced Douglas “Scooter” Burgess who has been 

appointed to the Board as a Home Inspector representative.  Ms. 

Lindsey advised the Board that due to legislative changes to the 

Board’s composition made during the 2023 General Assembly 

session, there are now three home inspector seats on the Board.  

Introduction of 

Board Members 

  

There were no members of the public present to comment on matters 

other than case files to be presented. 

Public Comment 

Period 

  

Mr. Salva recused himself from the meeting for discussion and 

deliberation of File Numbers 2023-00045, 2023-00517, 2023-00563, 

and 2023-01378. 

Recusal of Board 

Member 

  

In the matter of File Number 2023-00045, Daniel Lee Wheeler, the 

Board members reviewed the Consent Order. Mr. Wheeler admits to 

a violation of 18 VAC 15-40-120.B.9 as provided in Count 1, a 

violation of 18 VAC 15-40-130.A.1.d as provided in Count 2, and a 

violation of 18 VAC 15-40-130.B.1 as provided in Count 3. Mr. 

Wheeler consents to the imposition of a monetary penalty of $100.00 

for violation of Count 1, a monetary penalty of $100.00 for violation 

of Count 2, and a monetary penalty of $250.00 for violation of Count 

3, in addition to Board costs in the amount of $150.00. In addition, 

the Board shall waive imposition of the $100.00 monetary penalty 

for Count 1 provided Mr. Wheeler provides a copy of his current 

updated inspection contract to the Board within thirty (30) days of 

the effective date of this Consent Order. Further, the Board shall 

waive imposition of the $100.00 monetary penalty for Count 2 

provided Mr. Wheeler provides a copy of his current updated home 

inspection report to the Board withing thirty (30) days of the 

effective date of this consent order. Mr. Haltigan moved to approve 

the Consent Order as presented. Mr. Magruder seconded the motion 

which was unanimously approved by:    Armentrout, Baynes, 

Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, and Studley. 

File Number 2023-

00045, Daniel Lee 

Wheeler 

  

In the matter of File Number 2023-00517, Timothy Wade Thoner, 

the Board members reviewed the Consent Order. Mr. Thoner admits 

to a violation of 18 VAC 15-40-120.B as provided in Count 1, a 

violation of 18 VAC 15-40-130.A as provided in Count 2, and a 

violation of 18 VAC 15-40-130.B.8 as provided in Count 3. Mr. 

File Number 2023-

00517, Timothy 

Wade Thoner 
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Thoner consents to the imposition of a monetary penalty of $100.00 

for violation of Count 1, a monetary penalty of $100.00 for violation 

of Count 2, and a monetary penalty of $250.00 for violation of Count 

3, in addition to Board costs in the amount of $150.00. In addition, 

Mr. Thoner agrees to provide a copy of his current home inspection 

contract within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this consent 

order Mr. Magruder moved to approve the Consent Order as 

presented. Mr. Studley seconded the motion which was unanimously 

approved by:    Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, 

Magruder, and Studley. 

  

In the matter of File Number 2023-00563, Curtis Larry Calvert, 

the Board members reviewed the Consent Order. Mr. Calvert admits 

to a violation of 18 VAC 15-40-120.B.9 as provided in Count 1, a 

violation of 18 VAC 15-40-130.A.1.d as provided in Count 2, and a 

violation of 18 VAC 15-40-130.B.5.d as provided in Count 3. Mr. 

Thoner consents to the imposition of a monetary penalty of $100.00 

for violation of Count 1, a monetary penalty of $100.00 for violation 

of Count 2, and a monetary penalty of $250.00 for violation of Count 

3, in addition to Board costs in the amount of $150.00. In addition, 

the Board shall waive imposition of the $100.00 monetary penalty 

for Count 1 provided Mr. Calvert provides to the Board within thirty 

(30) days of the effective date of this Consent Order an updated 

inspection contract. Further, the Board shall waive imposition of the 

$100.00 monetary penalty for count 2 provided Mr. Calvert provides 

to the Board within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this 

Consent Order an updated home inspection report. Mr. Cranor 

moved to approve the Consent Order as presented. Mr. Magruder 

seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:    

Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, and 

Studley. 

File Number 2023-

00563, Curtis Larry 

Calvert 

  

Mr. Cranor recused himself from the meeting. Recusal of Board 

Member 

  

In the matter of File Number 2022-01378, Jonathan A. Guffey, the 

Board members reviewed the record which consisted of the 

investigative file, the transcript, and exhibits from the Informal Fact-

Finding Conference, and the Summary of the Informal Fact-Finding 

Conference.  

 

The Board considered each of the charged Violations under Counts 

1 through 3.  Mr. Magruder moved to accept the recommendation of 

the Presiding Officer and find Mr. Guffey in violation of 18VAC 15-

40-120.A as outlined in Count 1, 18VAC 15-40-130.A as outlined in 

File Number 2022-

01378, Jonathan A. 

Guffey 
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Count 2, and 18VAC 15-40-130.B as outlined in Count 3. Mr. 

Haltigan seconded the motion. The motion was approved by:    

Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Haltigan, Magruder, and Studley.  Mr. 

Magruder then moved to accept the recommended sanctions and 

impose a monetary penalty of $250.00. Mr. Haltigan seconded the 

motion which was unanimously approved by:    Armentrout, Baynes, 

Burgess, Haltigan, Magruder, and Studley. 

  

Mr. Salva returned to the meeting. Return of Board 

Member 

  

In the matter of File Number 2023-01442, Jack J. Mooney, the 

Board members reviewed the record which consisted of the 

application file, transcript and exhibits from the Informal Fact-

Finding Conference, and the Presiding Officer’s Summary and 

Recommendation.  

 

Mr. Salva moved to accept the recommendation of the Presiding 

Officer to approve Mr. Mooney’s application for a Home Inspector 

license. Mr. Magruder seconded the motion which was unanimously 

approved by:    Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Haltigan, Magruder, 

Salva, and Studley. 

File Number 2023-

01442, Jack J. 

Mooney 

  

Mr. Cranor returned to the meeting Return of Board 

Member 

  

 

In the matter of File Number 2023-01213, James Patrick 

Connelly, the Board members reviewed the record which consisted 

of the application file, transcript and exhibits from the Informal Fact-

Finding Conference, and the Presiding Officer’s Summary and 

Recommendation.  

 

Mr. Connelly was present to address the Board. Mr. Connelly 

thanked the Board for reviewing his application. Mr. Connelly also 

expressed his concerns about the time it can take to complete the 

application review and informal fact-finding process for individuals 

who have criminal records. 

 

Mr. Haltigan moved to accept the recommendation of the Presiding 

Officer to approve Mr. Connelly’s application for a Home Inspector 

license. Mr. Cranor seconded the motion. After discussion, the 

motion was unanimously approved by: Armentrout, Baynes, 

Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, Salva, and Studley. 

File Number 2023-

01213, James Patrick 

Connelly 
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In the matter of File Number 2023-01639, Nelson Antonio Molina, 

the Board members reviewed the record which consisted of the 

application file, transcript and exhibits from the Informal Fact-

Finding Conference, and the Presiding Officer’s Summary and 

Recommendation.  

 

Mr. Magruder moved to accept the recommendation of the Presiding 

Officer to deny Mr. Molina’s application for an Asbestos Worker 

license. Mr. Haltigan seconded the motion which was unanimously 

approved by:   Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, 

Magruder, Salva, and Studley. 

File Number 2023-

01639, Nelson 

Antonio Molina 

  

Ms. Lindsey informed the Board that Joe Haughwout, former 

Regulatory Administrator of the Board, will now serve as the 

Regulatory Affairs Manager for the agency. Mr. Haughwout will still 

be involved in the regulatory review process and will attend 

regulatory review committee meetings.  

 

Ms. Lindsey also provided an update on the status of the regulatory 

review processes for the Board’s regulatory packages. 

 

The general review of the Home Inspector Licensing Regulations is 

at the proposed stage.  The Board adopted proposed regulatory text 

at its meeting on November 4, 2021, and adopted revisions to 

proposed regulatory text at its meeting on May 12, 2022.  Proposed 

amendments have been submitted for Executive Branch review.   

 

The Board authorized filing of a Notice of Intended Regulatory 

Action (NOIRA) and formation of a regulatory review committee at 

the Board meeting on May 12, 2022, to consider amendments to the 

Home Inspector Licensing Regulations as required by Senate Bill 

607.   The NOIRA was submitted for Executive Branch review on 

July 22, 2022.  Executive Branch review was completed, and the 

NOIRA was published on September 12, 2022.  The 30-day public 

comment period concluded on October 12, 2022.  The Board met on 

November 10, 2022, and adopted proposed amendments to the 

regulations. 

 

The Board authorized filing of a NOIRA for a general review of the 

Virginia Asbestos Licensing Regulations and formation of 

regulatory review committee. The committee has been formed and 

held its first meeting on February 6, 2023. The NOIRA was 

submitted for Executive Branch review on January 23, 2023.  

 

Final Lead-Based Paint Renovation, Repair, and Painting Program 

Regulatory Action 

Update 
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(RRP) Regulations (Initial Promulgation) were submitted for 

Executive Branch review on January 18, 2022.   

 

The Board authorized a fast-track action to amend the Virginia Lead-

based Paint Activities Regulations to update 18 VAC 15-30-510 and 

documents incorporated by reference.  The fast-track action was 

submitted for Executive Branch Review on February 6, 2023.  

  

Ms. Lindsey informed the Board that the Asbestos Regulatory 

Review Committee will hold their second meeting on May 31, 2023. 

 

Ms. Lindsey also advised that while undergoing regulatory reviews, 

the Board and staff are tasked with reducing regulations by 25% for 

each Board.  

Update on Asbestos 

Regulatory Review 

Committee 

  

Ms. Lindsey provided the Board with Senate Bill 1213, known as 

Universal License Recognition (ULR), which passed during the 

2023 General Assembly session. The bill provides for methods of 

entry for home inspectors from other states wishing to get licensed 

in Virginia.  Ms. Lindsey advised that because the asbestos and lead 

programs follow federal regulatory requirements, ULR would not 

apply to asbestos or lead licensing.  

 

Ms. Lindsey asked the Board to consider items specific to home 

inspector entry requirements that would need to be addressed in light 

of the passage of ULR.  After lengthy discussion, Mr. Magruder 

moved to authorize Board staff to prepare a guidance document 

stating that work experience may be verified by realtors, home 

inspectors, supervisors, attorneys, and lending institutions. Mr. 

Studley seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:   

Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, Salva, 

and Studley. 

 

Mr. Salva then moved to authorize staff to draft a guidance document 

requiring a home inspector licensed through ULR to provide proof 

of insurance within 30 days of becoming licensed. Mr. Magruder 

seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:   

Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, Salva, 

and Studley. 

 

The Board agreed by consensus that a state jurisprudential 

examination for home inspectors will not be necessary at this time. 

 

The guidance documents will be published for a 30-day public 

comment period, after which they will become effective. 

Consider Universal 

Licensing 

Recognition 

Regulatory 

Amendment and 

Authorize 

Regulatory Process 



Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors 

May 11, 2023 

Page 7 
 

  

Ms. Pettus provided an update of home inspector continuing 

professional education (CPE) audits conducted on twenty-five 

percent of eligible certified home inspectors beginning on February 

14, 2023. 

Home Inspector CPE 

Audit Report  

  

Ms. Pettus provided an update of asbestos and lead course audits 

conducted between February and May 2023. 

Asbestos and Lead 

Course Audit Report 

  

Ms. Pettus provided proposed draft guidance for out-of-state 

asbestos course applications, and asked the Board to consider 

waiving the in-person course audit requirement for out-of-state 

training programs that are already approved by an EPA Model 

Accreditation Plan (MAP) state, as MAP states are each required to 

remain in compliance with the same asbestos training, training 

program, and record-keeping requirements of the EPA, including 

the completion of an in-person audit prior to approval. 

 

After discussion, Mr. Magruder moved to adopt the following 

guidance:  

 

1. Onsite audits are not required for final approval of asbestos 

courses with a primary location that is out-of-state, to be conducted 

solely out-of-state, so long as the course is currently approved by a 

MAP state. 

 

2. Proof of MAP state approval must be submitted for verification 

purposes. 

 

3. If an out-of-state course has not received MAP state approval, an 

onsite audit will be conducted as part of the approval process. This 

policy applies to applications for asbestos course approval only. 

 

This policy does not apply to courses and/or training providers with 

a primary location in the Commonwealth of Virginia, or for those 

courses that will be conducted primarily in Virginia. 

 

Mr. Haltigan seconded the motion which was unanimously approved 

by:   Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, 

Salva, and Studley. 

 

The guidance document will be published for a 30-day public 

comment period, after which it will become effective. 

Consider Guidance 

Regarding Out-of-

State Asbestos 

Course Applications 

  

As all lead courses are permitted to be conducted in Spanish, Ms. Discussion of VA 
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Lindsey asked the Board to consider allowing staff to begin 

researching the feasibility of providing the Virginia lead abatement 

examination specific to lead supervisor, lead inspector, and lead risk 

assessor applicants in Spanish.  

 

Mr. Magruder moved to authorize the Board to take the next steps to 

research on providing the Virginia lead abatement examination in 

Spanish. Mr. Salva seconded the motion. After discussion the motion 

was unanimously approved by:   Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, 

Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, Salva, and Studley. 

Specific Lead 

Abatement 

Examination 

  

Ms. Lindsey provided the Board with a list of potential legislative 

items to be considered during the 2024 General Assembly 

session.Mr. Cranor moved to approve the list of legislative items as 

presented. Mr. Studley seconded the motion which was unanimously 

approved by:   Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, 

Magruder, Salva, and Studley. 

2024 Legislative 

Discussion 

  

Ms. Lindsey presented the Board with tentative 2024 Board 

meeting dates for consideration. Mr. Magruder moved to approve 

the following meeting dates.  
 

• February 8, 2024 

• May 9, 2024 

• August 15, 2024 

• November 21, 2024 

Mr. Salva seconded the motion which was unanimously approved 

by:   Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Magruder, 

Salva, and Studley. 

Consider 2024 

Meeting Dates 

  

Ms. Lindsey provided the Board with the most recent financial 

statements for informational purposes. 

Board Financial 

Statements 

  

Ms. Lindsey updated the Board on recent and upcoming outreach 

opportunities. 

Outreach Update 

  

Ms. Pettus advised that she had received a request for the Board to 

provide clarification of the term “in” as provided in 18 VAC 15-20-

455.1. 

 

Discussion of 18 VAC 

15-20-455.1 
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     __________________________________________ 

     Sandra Baynes, Chair 

 

 

     __________________________________________ 

     Demetrios J. Melis, Secretary 

The Board agreed by consensus to interpret the definition of the term 

“in” as the Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act (AHERA) 

does when describing the envelope of buildings. 

  

Ms. Lindsey reminded the Board that the next meeting date is 

August 24, 2023. 

Future Meeting 

Dates 

  

Ms. Baynes reminded Board members to complete their conflict of 

interest forms. 

Conflict of Interest 

Forms and Travel 

Vouchers 

  

  

  

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 11:24 

a.m. 

Adjourn 

  



 

VIRGINIA BOARD FOR 

ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS 

ASBESTOS REGULATORY REVIEW COMMITTEE 

 

The Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee of the Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and 

Home Inspectors (Board) met on May 31, 2023, at the offices of the Department of Professional 

and Occupational Regulation (DPOR), Perimeter Center, 9960 Mayland Drive, 2nd Floor, Board 

Room 1, Richmond, Virginia 23233. 

 

The following members of the Committee were present: 

 

Stacy J. Armentrout 

Jeffrey Brown 

Ron Graham 

Patrick Studley, Chair 

Paul Thomas 

 

Committee member Louis Walker was not present at the meeting. 

 

The following staff members were present for part or all of the meeting: 

 

Tanya M. Pettus, Board Administrator 

Joseph C. Haughwout, Jr., Regulatory Administrator 

Lisa Robinson, Licensing Administrator 

Raven Custer, Administrative Coordinator 

 

Mr. Studley called the meeting to order at 10:01 a.m. Call to Order 

  

Ms. Pettus advised the Committee of the emergency evacuation 

procedures. 

Emergency 

Evacuation 

Procedures 

  

Mr. Thomas moved to approve the agenda as presented.  Mr. Armentrout 

seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:  Armentrout, 

Brown, Graham, Studley, and Thomas. 

Approval of Agenda 

  

There were no members of the public present who wished to address the 

Committee.  

Public Comment 

Period 

  

The Committee was provided with current versions of applicable laws 

and regulations, as well as asbestos regulatory review topics, and 

licensing requirements from other states for reference. 

Resources and 

Information 

  

Ms. Pettus provided the Committee with draft proposed amendments to 

Parts I through V of the Asbestos Licensing Regulations. 

 

Discussion was held on scope, definitions and general, and entry.. 

New Business 
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The Committee recessed from 12:23 p.m. to 12:57 p.m. Recess 

  

The Committee continued to consider draft proposed amendments to 

Parts I through V of the regulations. 

New Business 

Continued 

  

Ms. Pettus advised the Committee Other Business 

  

Mr. Studley reminded the Committee members to complete their conflict 

of interest forms and travel vouchers 

Complete Conflict of 

Interest Forms and 

travel Vouchers 

  

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 4:36 p.m. Adjourn 

  

  

 

      

 

     __________________________________________ 

     Sandra Baynes, Chair 

 

 

 

     __________________________________________ 

     Demetrios J. Melis, Secretary 

 



 

VIRGINIA BOARD FOR 

ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS 

ASBESTOS REGULATORY REVIEW COMMITTEE 

 

The Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee of the Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and 

Home Inspectors (Board) met on July 13, 2023, at the offices of the Department of Professional 

and Occupational Regulation (DPOR), Perimeter Center, 9960 Mayland Drive, Richmond, 

Virginia 23233. 

 

The following members of the Committee were present: 

 

Stacy J. Armentrout 

Ron Graham 

Patrick Studley, Chair 

Paul Thomas (arrived 10:27 am) 

 

Committee members Jeff Brown and Louis Walker were not present at the meeting. 

 

The following staff members were present for all or part of the meeting: 

 

Tanya M. Pettus, Board Administrator 

Joseph C. Haughwout, Jr., Regulatory Administrator 

Amy Goobic, Executive Assistant 

 

Mr. Studley called the meeting to order at 10:04 a.m. Call to Order 

  

Ms. Pettus advised the Committee of the emergency evacuation 

procedures. 

Emergency 

Evacuation 

Procedures 

  

Mr. Armentrout moved to approve the agenda as presented.  Mr. Graham 

seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:  Armentrout, 

Graham, and Studley. 

Approval of Agenda 

  

There were no members of the public present who wished to address the 

Committee.  

Public Comment 

Period 

  

The Committee was provided with current versions of applicable laws 

and regulations, as well as asbestos regulatory review topics, and 

licensing requirements from other states for reference.  

 

Resources and 

Information 

  

Ms. Pettus provided the Committee with draft proposed amendments to 

Parts I through V of the Asbestos Licensing Regulations. 

 

Discussion was held on degree, experience, and training requirements. 

Ms. Pettus informed the Committee that ‘Training Programs and 

Courses’ would be a separate section going forward. 

New Business 
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The Committee recessed from 11:45 a.m. to 12:20 p.m. Recess 

  

The Committee continued to consider draft proposed amendments to 

Parts I through V of the regulations. 

New Business 

Continued 

  

There was no other business. Other Business 

  

Mr. Studley reminded the Committee members to complete their conflict 

of interest forms and travel vouchers 

Complete Conflict of 

Interest Forms and 

travel Vouchers 

  

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 2:10 p.m. Adjourn 

  

  

 

      

 

     __________________________________________ 

     Sandra Baynes, Chair 

 

 

 

     __________________________________________ 

     Demetrios J. Melis, Secretary 

 



 

VIRGINIA BOARD FOR 

ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS 

ASBESTOS REGULATORY REVIEW COMMITTEE 

 

The Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee of the Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and 

Home Inspectors (Board) met on August 9, 2023, at the offices of the Department of 

Professional and Occupational Regulation (DPOR), Perimeter Center, 9960 Mayland Drive, 

Richmond, Virginia 23233. 

 

The following members of the Committee were present: 

 

Stacy J. Armentrout 

Patrick Studley, Chair 

Paul Thomas  

 

Committee members Jeff Brown, Ron Graham, and Louis Walker were not present at the 

meeting. 

 

 

The following staff members were present for all or part of the meeting: 

 

Stephen Kirschner, Licensing and Regulatory Programs Division Deputy Director 

Tanya M. Pettus, Board Administrator 

Lee D. Bryant Regulatory Administrator 

Joseph C. Haughwout, Jr., Regulatory Affairs Manager 

Emily Trent, Executive Assistant 

 

Mr. Studley called the meeting to order at 11:13 a.m. Call to Order 

  

Ms. Pettus advised the Committee of the emergency evacuation 

procedures. 

Emergency 

Evacuation 

Procedures 

  

Mr. Thomas moved to approve the agenda as presented.  Mr. Armentrout 

seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:  Armentrout, 

Studley, and Thomas. 

Approval of Agenda 

  

There were no members of the public present to address the Committee.  

 

Ms. Pettus introduced to the Committee Lee Bryant, who will serve as 

the Board’s Regulatory Administrator, and Emily Trent, who was 

present to assist with administrative duties. 

Public Comment 

Period 

 

Staff Introductions 

  

The Committee was provided with current versions of applicable laws 

and regulations, as well as asbestos regulatory review topics, and 

licensing requirements from other states for reference.  

 

Resources and 

Information 
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Ms. Pettus provided the Committee with draft proposed amendments to 

Parts VI through IX of the Asbestos Licensing Regulations. 

 

Discussion was held on industry specific practices, standards of practice 

and conduct, and proposed prohibited acts. 

New Business 

  

The Committee recessed from 12:39 p.m. to 1:08 p.m. Recess 

  

The Committee continued to consider draft proposed amendments to 

Parts VI through IX of the regulations. 

 

The Committee revisited Parts I through V of the regulations to 

determine amendments needed to definitions based on proposed 

amendments previously discussed.   

 

Ms. Pettus provided the Committee with entry requirements for 

licensure in neighboring states for the purpose of considering 

amendments to the Board’s current entry requirements.  Discussion was 

held on education and experience requirements for each license type.  

 

After review and discussion, Mr. Thomas moved to recommend 

proposed draft amendments to the Asbestos Licensing Regulations as 

discussed for presentation to the Board for review and approval, 

authorizing staff to make non-substantive changes as necessary. Mr. 

Armentrout seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by: 

Armentrout, Studley, and Thomas.  

New Business 

Continued 

  

There was no other business. Other Business 

  

Mr. Studley reminded the Committee members to complete their conflict 

of interest forms and travel vouchers 

Complete Conflict of 

Interest Forms and 

travel Vouchers 

  

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 4:51 p.m. Adjourn 
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     __________________________________________ 

     Sandra Baynes, Chair 

 

 

 

     __________________________________________ 

     Demetrios J. Melis, Secretary 

 



 

DPOR STAFF UPDATES 



PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 

 

Five minute public comment, per person, with the 

exception of any open disciplinary or application files. 



Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home 

Inspectors 

Update on Regulatory Actions 
(as of August 7, 2023) 

Action: Home Inspector Regulations General Review 

Current Stage: Proposed 
• Board reviewed and considered NOIRA stage public comments on 11/4/21.

• Board reviewed and considered committee recommendations, and adopted proposed regulatory

text on 11/4/21.

• Proposed regulatory text submitted for Executive Branch review on 2/14/22.

• Board adopted revision to proposed regulatory text on 5/12/22.

• Currently in Executive Branch review.

Action: SB 607 Amendment (Home Inspector Licensing Regulations) 

Current Stage: Proposed 
• Executive Branch review completed 5/23/2023.

• Published in Virginia Register on 7/3/23.

• 60-day public comment period began on 7/3/2023, inclusive of a public hearing to be held on

8/9/23, and concludes on 9/1/2023.

Next Step: Public Comment Review/Amendments 
• Board to consider public comments and adopt final amendments to regulation at its

11/30/2023, meeting.

• Final amendments forwarded for Executive Branch Review.

Action: Virginia Asbestos Licensing Regulations General Review 

Current Stage: NOIRA 
• NOIRA 30-day public comment period concluded 4/26/23, no public comments received.

• Board to review and adopt Committee recommended regulatory amendments.

Next Step: Proposed Stage/Executive Branch Review 
• Proposed regulatory amendments submitted for Executive Branch Review.

• Following completion of Executive Branch review, amendments will be submitted for

publication in the Virginia Register, and 60-day public comment period.

Action: Update to 18 VAC 15-30-510 and DIBR (Virginia Lead-Based 

Paint Activities Regulations) 

Current Stage: Fast-Track Regulation 
• Executive Branch review concluded on 5/23/23.

• Regulatory amendments published in Virginia Register 7/3/2023.

• Public comment period concluded 8/2/2023, no public comments received.

• Amendments become effective 9/1/23.



Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home 

Inspectors 

 
Action: Initial Promulgation of Lead-Based Paint Renovation, Repair, 

and Painting Regulation 

Current Stage: Final Regulation 
• Final regulation, as amended, adopted by Board on 8/26/21. 

• Final regulation submitted for Executive Branch review on 1/18/22. 

 
 



CONSIDER AUTHORIZING 

NOIRA AND COMMITTEE 

MEMBERSHIP FOR LEAD BASED 

PAINT ACTIVITIES GENERAL 

REVIEW 
 



DISCUSSION OF PROPOSED 

REGULATIONS FOR HOME INSPECTOR 

LICENSING GENERAL REVIEW 



CONSIDER COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR AMENDMENT 

OF ASBESTOS LICENSING REGULATIONS 

AND ADOPT PROPOSED REGULATIONS 

 

(Draft proposed amendments to be distributed once 

finalized.) 
 



 

UPDATE ON 2023 

LEGISLATION 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

 

TO: Members, Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors 

 

FROM: Tanya M. Pettus, Board Administrator 

 Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors 

 

DATE: August 24, 2023  

 

SUBJECT: Granting Continuances for Disciplinary and Licensing Cases 

Brought Before the Board 

 

 

I. Background 

As other Boards within the Agency have received inquiries from respondents regarding 
requesting a continuance of the Board’s review and decision of their disciplinary cases, 
it was determined that the ALHI Board does not currently have a policy on granting 
continuances for disciplinary or licensing cases. 
 
 
II. Applicable Regulation 
 
§2.2-4021.B of the Code of Virginia requires that, “in any informal fact-finding, formal 
proceeding, or summary case decision proceeding in which a hearing officer is not … 
not empowered to recommend a finding, the board, commission, or agency personnel 
responsible for rendering a decision shall render that decision within 90 days from the 
date of the informal fact-finding, formal proceeding, or completion of a summary case 
decision proceeding, or from a later date agreed to by the named party and the 
agency…”  
 
 
III. Consideration of Policy 
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As the Code of Virginia provides a means for respondents or their attorneys to request 

case decisions to be rendered later than the 90-day timeframe from the date of the 

informal fact-finding conference, staff recommends the Board adopt the following policy 

governing continuances for disciplinary and licensing cases.  This will ensure 

consistency in considering requests for continuance going forward. 

1. All requests for a continuance of a case must be in writing. 

2. Requests for a continuance of a licensing case may be granted administratively by 
the Board’s Executive Director or designee. 

3. Requests for a continuance for disciplinary cases in which the recommended 
sanction does not include license revocation may be granted administratively by the 
Board’s Executive Director or designee. The Executive Director may only grant one 
continuance to the next meeting for any case. Any further requests for a continuance 
may only be granted by vote of the Board at the next meeting in which the case is to be 
considered. 

4. Requests for a continuance for disciplinary cases in which the recommended 
sanction includes license revocation may only be granted by vote of the Board at the 
meeting in which the case is scheduled to be considered. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

06/22/2023 

2024 TENTATIVE BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE 

 

 
 

ALHI BOARD 

Board Meeting 

Thursday, February 8, 2024 @ 9:00 am 
Board Room 2 

Thursday, May 9, 2024 @ 9:00 a.m. 
Board Room 1 

Thursday, August 15, 2024 @ 9:00 am 
Board Room 1 

Thursday, November 21, 2024 @ 9:00 am 
Board Room 3 

 
 



 

 

Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation 
 

Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors 

 

Resolution for 
 

Trisha L. Lindsey 
 
WHEREAS, Trisha L. Lindsey did faithfully and diligently serve the Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home 
Inspectors, and the Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation; 
 
WHEREAS, Trisha L. Lindsey, did devote generously of her time, talent and leadership to the Board; 
 
WHEREAS, Trisha L. Lindsey, did endeavor at all times to render decisions with fairness and good judgement in the 
best interest of the citizens of the Commonwealth and these professions; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors wishes to acknowledge its gratitude for devoted 
service of a person who is held in high esteem by the members of the Board and the citizens of the Commonwealth; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors this twenty-
fourth day of August 2023, that Trisha L. Lindsey be given all honors and respect due her for her outstanding service to 
this Board and the Commonwealth and its citizens; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution be presented to her and be made a part of the official minutes of the 
Board so that all may know of the high regard in which she is held by this Board. 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Sandra Baynes, Chair 
 



2022-2024 Biennium July 2023

July 2023 July 2020 - July 2022 -

Activity July 2021 July 2023

Cash/Revenue Balance Brought Forward 66,585

Revenues 0 318,974 269,808

Cumulative Revenues 336,393

Cost Categories:

Board Expenditures 0 42,646 41,417

Board Administration 0 92,237 92,212

Administration of Exams 0 4,306 716

Enforcement 0 5,753 7,487

Legal Services 0 752 1,546

Information Systems 0 63,399 58777

Facilities and Support Services 0 50,011 41438

Agency Administration 0 42,021 62091

Other / Transfers 0 0 -75

Total Expenses 0 301,126 305,608

Transfer To/(From) Cash Reserves 0 0 (5,862)

Ending Cash/Revenue Balance 36,646

Cash Reserve Beginning Balance 270,462 0 276,323

Change in Cash Reserve 0 0 (5,862)

Cash Reserve Ending Balance 270,462 0 270,462

Number of Regulants

Current Month 0

Previous Biennium-to-Date 6,261

Biennium-to-Date Comparison

Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation

Statement of Financial Activity

Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors
954540



UPDATE ON OUTREACH 

OPPORTUNITIES 



OTHER BUSINESS 



FUTURE MEETING DATES
November 30, 2023



COMPLETE CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

FORMS AND  

TRAVEL VOUCHERS 


	Call to Order
	Emergency Evacuation of Board Rooms 
	Approval of Agenda--8/24/2023
	Approval of Minutes
	05.11.2023  Board Meeting
	05.31.2023 Asbestos Reg Review Committee
	07.13.2023 Asbestos Reg Review Committee
	08.09.2023 Asbestos Reg Review Committee

	DPOR Staff Updates
	Public Comment Period
	File Number 2022-02331, William Bruce Blackwell (PF )
	Recommendation
	Report of Findings 

	File Number 2023-00012, Lixin Wang (CO)
	Report of Findings
	Participant Letter

	File Number 2023-02240, Tywone Lovell Wilkins
	IFF Referral Memorandum
	Recommendation
	Transcript
	Board Exhibit 1
	Board Exhibit 2
	Board Exhibit 3
	Board Exhibit 4
	Board Exhibit 5
	Participant Letter

	File Number 2023-02401, Lilians C. Maradiaga
	Recommendation
	Transcript
	Board Exhibit 1
	Board Exhibit 2 
	Board Exhibit 3 
	Participant Letter

	File Number 2023-02452, Brandon J. Black
	IFF Referral Memorandum
	Recommendation
	Transcript
	Black Exhibit 1
	Black Exhibit 2
	Black Exhibit 3
	Black Exhibit 4
	Black Exhibit 5
	Black Exhibit 6
	Board Exhibit 1
	Board Exhibit 2 
	Participant Letter

	Regulatory Action Update 
	Consider Authorizing NOIRA and Committee for Lead Regulations General Review
	Discussion of Proposed Regulations for HI General Review
	Consider Committee Recommendations for Amendment of Asbestos Regulations 
	2023 Legislative Update
	Consider Board Policy on Continuance of Case File Decisions
	Consider 2024 Meeting Dates
	Consider Resolution of Service
	Board Financial Statements
	Outreach Update
	Other Business
	Future Meeting Dates
	Complete Conflcit of Interest Forms and Travel Vouchers
	Adjourn 
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 01                   COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

 02    DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL REGULATION

 03  

 04          BOARD OF ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS

 05  

 06  

 07  

 08  IN RE:  INFORMAL FACT-FINDING CONFERENCE

 09  HEARD BEFORE:  JULIE JACKSON-BAILEY

 10  

 11  MAY 10, 2023

 12  SECOND FLOOR CONFERENCE CENTER

 13  9960 MAYLAND DRIVE

 14  HENRICO, VIRGINIA 23233

 15  1:00 P.M.

 16  

 17  IN RE:  LILIANS C. MARADIAGA

 18  FILE NUMBER:  2023-02401

 19  

 20  

 21  

 22  

 23  

 24  

 25  
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 01  APPEARANCES:

 02  

 03  BOARD DESIGNEE:

 04  Julie Jackson-Bailey, Presiding;

 05  

 06  STAFF:

 07  Christina Dumas, Post-Adjudication and Licensing

 08  Specialist;

 09  

 10  ALSO PRESENT:

 11  Lilians C. Maradiaga

     (via telephone)

 12  

     Jose E. Lopez

 13  (via telephone)

 14  Anna #21833, Spanish Interpreter

     (via telephone)

 15  

 16  

 17  

 18  

 19  

 20  

 21  

 22  

 23  

 24  

 25  
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 01                           I N D E X

 02     _______________________________________________________

 03                                                   PAGE

 04  

 05  Board Exhibit No. 1

 06     IFF conference referral memorandum

 07     Application and supporting documents            7

 08  Board Exhibit No. 2

 09     IFF conference referral memorandum              7

 10  Board Exhibit No. 3

 11     IFF conference notice                           7

 12  

 13  

 14  
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 16  

 17  

 18  

 19  

 20  

 21  

 22  

 23  

 24  

 25  
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 01                         NOTE:  The hearing commences at

 02           1:05 p.m., as follows:

 03                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Good

 04           afternoon.  My name is Julie Jackson-Bailey and

 05           I'm a designee of the Board.  This is an informal

 06           fact-finding conference to hear additional

 07           information regarding the regulatory issues

 08           involved with your application for licensure.

 09                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 10           Okay.

 11                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Assisting with

 12           the IFF conference today is Christina Dumas.

 13           Additionally, we have a Court Reporter present.

 14                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 15           Very well.  Okay.

 16                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  The Court

 17           Reporter will make a transcript of everything

 18           that is said here today and that transcript will

 19           become an official part of your file.

 20                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 21           Okay.

 22                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  I now convene

 23           the conference to accept presentation for those

 24           individuals who are present.

 25                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)
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 01           Okay.

 02                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  A couple of

 03           housekeeping rules before we begin, please speak

 04           slowly and clearly so that the Court Reporter can

 05           make an accurate transcript.

 06                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 07           Okay, that's fine.

 08                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  One thing I

 09           need to point out is that since we are doing this

 10           via a conference call line, we often lose

 11           connection so if that happens, please stay on the

 12           line and wait for us to dial back in.  If for any

 13           reason you lose connection, please hang on the --

 14           just wait and we'll try to conference you back

 15           in, okay?

 16                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 17           Okay, that's fine.

 18                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  The other

 19           thing I want to point out is that if me or Ms.

 20           Dumas are attempting to ask you a question, if

 21           you will please wait until we ask the entire

 22           question before you begin responding, that way we

 23           are not speaking over top of each other, okay?

 24                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 25           Okay, perfect.
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 01                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  At this time,

 02           will the applicant please state your full name

 03           and mailing address for the record?

 04                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 05           Lilians Concepcion Maradiaga Rodriguez.

 06                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay, and your

 07           mailing address?

 08                         THE INTERPRETER:  Let me verify the

 09           address first.

 10                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.

 11                         MS. MARADIAGA:  73 Bonura Drive,

 12           St. Rose, Louisiana.  The zip code 70087.

 13                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Thank you.

 14           And do you have any witnesses there with you

 15           today?

 16                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 17           Yes.

 18                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Can the

 19           witness please state his full name and mailing

 20           address for the record as well?

 21                         MR. LOPEZ:  (by interpreter) My

 22           name is Jose E. Lopez and the mailing address is

 23           73 Bonura Drive, St. Rose, Louisiana 70087.

 24                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Ms.

 25           Maradiaga, you were referred for an IFF today
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 01           because the Board was unable to verify your

 02           social security number and, therefore, they

 03           referred the application to us to get some more

 04           information, okay?

 05                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 06           Okay, that's fine.

 07                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  At this time,

 08           I'm going to ask Ms. Dumas to read the exhibits

 09           into the record.

 10                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 11           Okay.

 12                         MS. DUMAS:  Board Exhibit One is

 13           the Informal Fact-Finding conference referral

 14           memorandum dated March 31, 2023, which contains

 15           the applicant's application and other documents.

 16                              Board Exhibit Two is a copy of

 17           the Informal Fact-Finding conference referral

 18           memorandum dated February 17th, 2022, which

 19           contains the applicant's previous application and

 20           other documents, including the Social Security

 21           Program Operations Manual System.

 22                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 23           Okay.

 24                         MS. DUMAS:  Board Exhibit Three, is

 25           the Informal Fact-Finding conference by telephone
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 01           notice dated April 19, 2023.

 02                              Board Exhibits One, Two, and

 03           Three were delivered by UPS to the address of

 04           record on April 25th, 2023.

 05                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)  I

 06           received those, yes.

 07                         MS. DUMAS:  Thank you.

 08                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  The

 09           reason, like I stated before, that the Board

 10           referred the application to our section, is

 11           because they were unable to verify your social

 12           security number.

 13                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 14           Can I give it to you again now?

 15                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  We have a copy

 16           of it.  I guess, is there anything you can speak

 17           to as to why you believe it may not be showing up

 18           as one that can be verified?

 19                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)  I

 20           don't know why it's happening.  I showed you

 21           my -- I gave you my correct documentation and I'm

 22           sure my social security number is correct.

 23                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  When

 24           did you receive your social security card, what

 25           year?
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 01                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 02           07-13-2020.

 03                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And

 04           then the other question I have is we have two

 05           different copies of your social security card.

 06           One has a control number on the back that starts

 07           with an H and the other one has a control number

 08           that starts with an E.  How many social security

 09           cards do you have or why were we provided with

 10           two different ones?

 11                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 12           Well, I only have one social security card, the

 13           one that was provided to me from the government,

 14           from the state, and that number starts with an H.

 15                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  In the

 16           file, we also have a copy of one from -- that has

 17           the same issued date of 7-13-2020 under the name

 18           of Lilians Maradiaga Rodriguez and the backside

 19           of that gave the social or the control number of

 20           E15773483.

 21                         THE INTERPRETER:  The interpreter

 22           needs to ask for clarification.

 23                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.

 24                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 25           Well actually, I received the social security
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 01           card one time, the first time, and I just got it.

 02           When I tried to obtain my daughter one, they told

 03           me, they let me know, that mine was incorrect and

 04           they correct it.  It was one letter that was

 05           incorrect.  I'm sorry can I speak too?

 06                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Yes, go ahead.

 07                         MR. LOPEZ:  When she received the

 08           security card number, we see the number -- the

 09           name was wrong spelled in the begin of it and

 10           they said they was going to correct that and I

 11           don't know if that cause the issue on the letter

 12           or not.

 13                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  What

 14           was the issue with the misspelling?

 15                         MR. LOPEZ:  Her name is spelled

 16           L-I-L-I-N-A-N-S and they only had it

 17           L-I-L-I-N-I-N and they miss the S and had they

 18           had Concepcion but her social security number

 19           just only had Maradiaga Rodriguez.

 20                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Both of the

 21           versions that we have, have her first name

 22           spelled correctly with the S on the end.  You

 23           said that was the issue, correct, there was no S?

 24                         MR. LOPEZ:  Okay.  If you look at

 25           the new one, I don't know if you see that one, it
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 01           got only Maradiaga Rodriguez and the whole name

 02           supposedly is Lilians Concepcion and Maradiaga

 03           Rodriguez.

 04                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Both of the

 05           versions that we have are identical in regards to

 06           the name.  The difference lies in the control

 07           number on the back, which is what I noted

 08           earlier.

 09                         MR. LOPEZ:  Okay.  That one, I be

 10           honest to you, I have no idea what happened.

 11                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.

 12                         MR. LOPEZ:  But when she applied

 13           for her license the first time, it was applied by

 14           the company.  I don't know if she had a mistake

 15           or somebody else send extra stuff in there.  I

 16           don't know.  It's hard to explain that one.  But,

 17           you know, when they did the applications, it was

 18           not only one, it was several applications, like

 19           fifty or sixty applications.  The office did that

 20           and I don't know if they didn't repeatly send the

 21           numbers from somebody else.

 22                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  All right.  So

 23           Ms. Maradiaga, what company was it that you were

 24           working for at the time that they completed the

 25           application for you?
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 01                         MR. LOPEZ:  She was applying for

 02           One Priority Environmental.

 03                         MS. MARADIAGA:  Okay.  Can you let

 04           the interpreter interpret for her, please?

 05                         MR. LOPEZ:  Okay.

 06                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 07           One Priority Environmental.

 08                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  How long had

 09           you been working for them?

 10                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter) I

 11           was just starting.  It was like a month, a month

 12           and-a-half.

 13                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  When did you

 14           start?  Can give me the month that you started

 15           with them?

 16                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter) It

 17           was in August, almost September.

 18                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  What year did

 19           you say?

 20                         MS. MARADIAGA:  2020.  No, no, it

 21           was not 2020.  It was 2021.  The year before the

 22           last.

 23                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  2021?

 24                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 25           Yes.
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 01                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So just so I

 02           make sure I understand from the applicant, the

 03           original application was completed by Priority

 04           One and you believe that maybe there was an issue

 05           when they sent in your original application and

 06           that is the cause of the issue with the control

 07           number?

 08                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter) I

 09           think so because there was too my applications.

 10                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Ultimately, we

 11           still, even if that is the case, we still have

 12           the problem of the Board being unavailable to

 13           verify your social security number, which they do

 14           for all applications that come in.  That would be

 15           affected -- sorry, go ahead.

 16                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter) I

 17           can barely hear what you said because the line is

 18           cutting.

 19                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Yeah, it

 20           sounds like that was happening on the

 21           interpreter's end.  Can she hear us okay now?

 22                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 23           Yes, yes, I can hear you now.

 24                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Can the

 25           interpreter repeat what I previously said for the
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 01           applicant?

 02                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 03           I'm going to need to fix this problem then.

 04                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Yes, if

 05           they're unable to verify your social security

 06           number, we cannot approve the license.  Let me

 07           ask you one other thing.

 08                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 09           Yes, ma'am.

 10                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  You're

 11           currently living in Louisiana, can you explain to

 12           me the reason that you're attempting to get a

 13           license in the State of Virginia?

 14                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 15           That's right.  Because my husband, he works in

 16           that area and he's a supervisor.

 17                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  He's a

 18           supervisor in the State of Virginia?

 19                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 20           Yes.

 21                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  But the

 22           address he gave earlier was also Louisiana.  Is

 23           it -- are you'll going to be moving here?

 24                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 25           Well, actually, we move where we find a job
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 01           because they'll pay for hotels, for

 02           transportation, for food, so we don't have any

 03           issues about that.  That's why we asked for -- we

 04           apply for licenses in many states.

 05                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Do you

 06           hold any licenses currently in any other states?

 07                         THE INTERPRETER:  I need to verify

 08           some information, ma'am.

 09                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.

 10                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 11           Yes, I also have licenses for the states of South

 12           Carolina, Alabama, Louisiana, Kansas.  Tennessee

 13           is already approved and I'm about to receive it.

 14           I have other ones that already expire, Texas and

 15           also Wisconsin.

 16                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  What is

 17           the one that you're getting ready to receive?  I

 18           missed that one.

 19                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 20           The Tennessee one.

 21                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Have any of

 22           your licenses ever been subject to professional

 23           discipline?

 24                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 25           No one.
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 01                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Is

 02           there anything else you would like to add that

 03           you would like the Board to know when they

 04           consider your application?

 05                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 06           Well, I just don't know exactly what's going on,

 07           why I'm having this problem in the State of

 08           Virginia.  I was there.  Actually, I went to the

 09           office but I had an issue so I had to take a

 10           flight back into Louisiana, but I think it

 11           wouldn't be any different if I was there because

 12           I still have the problem of my social security

 13           number.

 14                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  That's

 15           correct.  Would you like me to provide you any

 16           additional time so you can reach out to the

 17           Social Security office to see if you can try to

 18           work out the issue?

 19                         MS. MARADIAGA:  I already have the

 20           address.  Actually, I'm going to go in person.

 21           As I told you, I was just about to get my

 22           daughter's social security card and I'm going to

 23           fix this in person, but I do appreciate your

 24           help.

 25                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Do you want me
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 01           to leave the record open for ten days or so to

 02           give you some time to go to the social security

 03           office that way if you find out some new

 04           information, you can provide it to us and we can

 05           include that when your application goes forward

 06           to the Board?

 07                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 08           Okay, that's fine.

 09                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Give me

 10           one second while Mr. Dumas looks up ten days from

 11           today.

 12                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 13           Okay, that's fine.

 14                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  I'll

 15           give you till Monday, May 22nd.  I will leave the

 16           record open, so if you find out anything from the

 17           social security office, you can email that

 18           information to Ms. Jones.  She's the one that

 19           originally sent you your notice so her email

 20           address should be on your notice that we sent you

 21           back in April so you can email her anything that

 22           you find out.

 23                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 24           Okay, that will be fine.

 25                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  If
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 01           there's nothing else, then let me explain the

 02           process going forward.  Based upon everything

 03           I've heard and everything I've read, I'll put my

 04           thoughts together into a written recommendation.

 05           The Department will mail you a copy of my

 06           recommendation along with a letter letting you

 07           know the date and time where the full Board will

 08           meet to make a final decision concerning your

 09           application.

 10                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 11           Okay.

 12                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  You're welcome

 13           to attend the Board meeting, but you do not have

 14           to.  If you do attend, the Board will give you an

 15           opportunity of about five minutes to address the

 16           full Board before they make their final decision.

 17                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 18           Okay, that's fine.

 19                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Generally what

 20           happens at the Board meeting, is the Board will

 21           briefly hear from you, then they'll discuss your

 22           case, and they will vote right then and there.

 23           So if you do attend the Board meeting, you will

 24           find out the outcome of your application that

 25           same day.
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 01                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 02           Okay, perfect.

 03                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  If you were

 04           unable to attend the Board meeting, the Board

 05           will follow up with you in writing a few days

 06           after the Board meeting to let you know the

 07           outcome.

 08                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 09           Okay, that's fine.

 10                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  One thing you

 11           need to understand is I can recommend yes and the

 12           full Board can say no or the other way around.

 13           It's a majority vote of the full Board that makes

 14           the final decision.

 15                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 16           Okay, that will be fine.

 17                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Do you have

 18           any additional questions for me?

 19                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 20           No, no, no, thank you.

 21                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And does your

 22           witness have anything else he would like to add?

 23                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 24           No, nothing.

 25                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  If
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 01           there's nothing further, then I'll thank you for

 02           your time and I'll conclude the conference and we

 03           are off record.

 04                         MS. MARADIAGA:  (by interpreter)

 05           Thank you.  Thank you so much.

 06  

 07                         NOTE:  The hearing concluded at

 08           1:40 p.m.

 09  

 10  

 11  

 12  

 13  

 14  
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 16  
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 25  
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 01                         NOTE:  The hearing commences at

 02           11:18 a.m., as follows:

 03                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Good

 04           morning.  My name is Julie Jackson-Bailey and I'm

 05           a designee of the Board.  This is an Informal

 06           Fact-Finding Conference to hear additional

 07           information regarding the regulatory issues

 08           involved with your application for licensure.

 09                              Assisting with the IFF

 10           conference today, is Ms. Dumas.  Also we have

 11           Court Reporter present.  The Court Reporter will

 12           be making a transcript of everything that is said

 13           here today and that transcript will become an

 14           official part of your file.  I now convene the

 15           conference to accept presentation from those

 16           individuals who are present.

 17                              A couple of housekeeping rules

 18           before we begin.  If you will please speak loudly

 19           and clearly so that I can hear you, but also so

 20           that the Court Reporter can make an accurate

 21           transcript.  The air tends to be a little bit

 22           loud in this room, so we have to try to get

 23           people to project.

 24                              Additionally if Ms. Dumas or I

 25           are attempting to ask a question, if you will
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 01           please let us ask the entire question before you

 02           begin responding, that way we're not speaking

 03           over each other for the Court Reporter's sake.

 04                              Also a lot times when we have

 05           witnesses present, the witnesses and applicant

 06           will oftentimes speak on top of each other as

 07           well, so please just try not to do that, okay?

 08           At this time, if you will please state your full

 09           name and mailing address for the record.

 10                         MR. WILKINS:  My name is Tywone

 11           Wilkins and my mailing address is 124 Howard

 12           Street, apartment 203, Portsmouth, Virginia.

 13                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And you

 14           have a witness here with you today?

 15                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 16                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And could you

 17           state your full name and mailing address?

 18                         MS. JONES:  Seneca Jones, 1000

 19           Christiana Circle, Portsmouth, Virginia 23703.

 20                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And what is

 21           your relationship to the applicant?

 22                         MS. JONES:  He's my fiance.

 23                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  All

 24           right.  At this time, Ms. Dumas, would you please

 25           introduce the exhibits?
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 01                         MS. DUMAS:  Yes.  Board Exhibit One

 02           is the Informal Fact-Finding conference referral

 03           memorandum which contains the applicant's

 04           application and other documents.

 05                              Board Exhibit Two is the

 06           revised Informal Fact-Finding conference referral

 07           memorandum.

 08                              Board Exhibit Three is the

 09           Notice of additional documents.  The additional

 10           documents contain documents from the Virginia

 11           court case site, which are Board Exhibit Number

 12           Four.

 13                              Board Exhibit Five is the

 14           Notice of Informal Fact-Finding conference dated

 15           April 11, 2023 and sent by email April 21, 2021.

 16           Those are all the exhibits.

 17                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Thank you.

 18           And, Mr. Wilkins, I know we had an issue with

 19           your original notice not being mailed to you via

 20           UPS which is what we normally do.

 21                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 22                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  But I was told

 23           by Ms. Jones, who you have been corresponding

 24           with, that she sent it via email in April.  Are

 25           you comfortable with us moving forward with your
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 01           IFF conference today since you did not receive

 02           the paper notice?

 03                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am, I'm here.

 04                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Well,

 05           if you needed more time to prepare or anything

 06           like that, we could always reschedule.  But if

 07           you're comfortable, we can move forward.

 08                         MR. WILKINS:  So basically you

 09           would just be asking questions or what do I have

 10           to prepare for?

 11                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Well, I would

 12           just ask you questions about your prior

 13           convictions and, you know, some people like to,

 14           you know, provide documents as far as, you know,

 15           classes they've taken, resumes, stuff like that,

 16           but I can always hold the record open afterwards.

 17           If you come across anything and you're, like, I

 18           would like to be able to provide that to you, we

 19           can hold the record open if that's something you

 20           would like to do, okay?

 21                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 22                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  All right.  So

 23           what we'll do today is I will go through your

 24           criminal convictions that you indicated in your

 25           application for licensure that you did have some,

�0008

 01           so we will go through those convictions and then

 02           a little bit about your background and your work

 03           history and then your plans moving forward if

 04           granted licensure, okay?

 05                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 06                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  All right.

 07           And I know some of these are a little bit old so

 08           if you'll just bear with me, I've got to go

 09           through them all.  I'll just ask you about them

 10           and a lot of these are from -- the older ones

 11           didn't have sentencing information, so we'll go

 12           through that as well, okay?

 13                              The first convictions that we

 14           need to speak about are from September 15, 1997

 15           in the Portsmouth Circuit Court.  You were found

 16           guilty of -- it looks like three different

 17           charges.  It was abduction, attempted robbery,

 18           and another abduction conviction and these are

 19           all for an incident that happened on January

 20           26th, 1996.  Can you tell me specifically what

 21           happened that lead to those convictions?

 22                         MR. WILKINS:  We were going, I

 23           guess, to fight or whatever and it turned out

 24           another way and we got arrested for it.

 25                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  You
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 01           were going to fight, is that what you said?

 02                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 03                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Who

 04           were you fighting?  Is this somebody you knew or

 05           what was the situation?

 06                         MR. WILKINS:  No, you know, it was

 07           like gang territory back then, you know, in the

 08           neighborhoods and somebody was picking on

 09           someone.

 10                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And

 11           were you trying -- it says attempted robbery.

 12           Were you trying to take money?  How did that

 13           conviction --

 14                         MR. WILKINS:  It wasn't.  It was

 15           five guys and one person decided to do something

 16           else but, you know, everybody being together,

 17           they make it sound like everybody done it, but

 18           everybody didn't do it.

 19                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  So when

 20           you say one guy did something else, do you mean

 21           he took something from somebody else?

 22                         MR. WILKINS:  Yeah, he done it.

 23           That's why we had end up pleading guilty, you

 24           know, to the charges.

 25                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  So you
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 01           did take a plea on that?

 02                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 03                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  What was your

 04           sentencing order because the criminal history

 05           report doesn't tell us?

 06                         MR. WILKINS:  They gave me five

 07           years.  I think I did, like, two and-a-half years

 08           time served, five years on paper.

 09                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So two

 10           and-a-half is what you served?

 11                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 12                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Do you recall

 13           if you had probation following that?

 14                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 15                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Do you recall

 16           how long that was for?

 17                         MR. WILKINS:  Probably five years.

 18                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  During that

 19           time, did you have to submit to any urine

 20           analysis screens or just check in with a

 21           probation officer?

 22                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, I went to a

 23           probation officer.  I had urine analysis.

 24                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And then there

 25           were two counts or two convictions of abduction.
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 01           Did you all restrain the people?  What was the

 02           situation?

 03                         MR. WILKINS:  I guess just because

 04           they ran, I guess it's called abduction.

 05                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  But you

 06           didn't -- I think on paper, people read abduction

 07           and think that you actually took somebody, but

 08           that's not how it happened?

 09                         MR. WILKINS:  (Shaking head)

 10                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  The

 11           next convictions that we need to speak about are

 12           from August 15th, 2001.  It looks like you had

 13           three convictions for probation violation, which

 14           was a felony for the first one.  You were

 15           sentenced to three years and six months with

 16           three years suspended.  The second one was also

 17           the same, three years and six months imposed with

 18           three years suspended.  And then the third

 19           conviction was also for the same thing, three

 20           years, six months, for three year suspended.  How

 21           did you end up with those probation violations?

 22                         MR. WILKINS:  You said it was in

 23           2000?

 24                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  2001, but it

 25           looks like it stems from an incident from August
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 01           3, 2000.

 02                         MR. WILKINS:  I think they -- you

 03           know, how they resentence you, they resentenced

 04           me because I think I ended up doing six months

 05           and so they said they'd reinstate me.  That's how

 06           I end up with three years and six months because

 07           I think I was wanted for something and I stayed

 08           on the run and I got caught and they sentenced me

 09           with six years and they reinstated me.

 10                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  So with

 11           these, you said you were wanted for something, do

 12           you recall what that was for at the time?

 13                         MR. WILKINS:  Probably driving.

 14                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And

 15           then did you do six months total for all three

 16           probation violation convictions or -- because

 17           they show on the criminal history report.

 18                         MR. WILKINS:  It had to be just

 19           one.  I mean, I can't really remember way back

 20           then, but it's got to be just one together unless

 21           that's my new charge.  My new charge was 2006

 22           where it was supposed to be like eight felonies

 23           in all and they suspended three years and six

 24           months for all of them.  By you saying three, you

 25           messed me up.  Now I'm going to ask you what was
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 01           the date.

 02                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Well, the

 03           three -- I only see three on here for this 2001

 04           conviction -- convictions, excuse me.  So when

 05           you had those probation violations, though, how

 06           long did you have to serve?

 07                         MR. WILKINS:  What?  To get off?

 08                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  It says you

 09           had to serve some jail time.  Do you recall

 10           having to serve any time in jail?

 11                         MR. WILKINS:  I think I got like

 12           six months.

 13                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Six month

 14           total, correct?

 15                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, and reinstated.

 16                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Reinstated

 17           your probation?

 18                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 19                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Or did

 20           probation start over?

 21                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, it starts over.

 22                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  The

 23           next conviction that we need to talk about is

 24           from September 30, 2004 in Portsmouth Circuit

 25           Court.  You were found guilty of manufacture,
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 01           sell, or possession of a controlled substance and

 02           this was for an incident that occurred on

 03           February 19, 2003.  It looks like you were

 04           sentenced to ten years of incarceration, but all

 05           ten year were suspended.  Can you tell me

 06           specifically what happened that lead to that

 07           conviction?

 08                         MR. WILKINS:  That conviction, I

 09           stayed on the run.  I got a lawyer.  She said we

 10           can go fight it.  I don't think they have

 11           anything, but they offered you a plea of ten year

 12           with no jail time and I told her I'll take it.

 13                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  How did

 14           the charge come about?  Were you caught with the

 15           drugs on you?  In a traffic stop?  Tell me how

 16           the charge came about.

 17                         MR. WILKINS:  I was walking down

 18           the street like towards where the kids go at and

 19           the police had told me to come here and I was,

 20           like, who are you talking to?  He was, like, you

 21           and the other guy came up and tried to grab me

 22           and I just took off running and there was other

 23           guys out there.  So when one of them caught me,

 24           he kept saying did he throw anything, did he

 25           throw anything, they said, no, I ain't see him
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 01           throw nothing, but I got some weed or something

 02           put on him.  So they basically crooked cops.  I

 03           said you can't do that, you can't do that.  Don't

 04           tell me what I can do.

 05                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So the

 06           marijuana they placed on you?

 07                         MR. WILKINS:  No, they placed

 08           crack.

 09                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.

 10                         MR. WILKINS:  The one they see had

 11           marijuana.  They end up bringing something back.

 12           I guess they figured marijuana wasn't enough.

 13                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And so

 14           you took the plea deal so you didn't have to

 15           spend any time incarcerated?

 16                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 17                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  It looks like

 18           you got supervised probation after that; is that

 19           correct?

 20                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 21                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.

 22                         MR. WILKINS:  I'll always remain on

 23           probation.

 24                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  So it's

 25           kind of one thing happened and then another, so
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 01           the probation just kind of continued?

 02                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 03                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And

 04           then on September 10, 2004, in the Chesapeake

 05           General District, you were found guilty of a

 06           misdemeanor for contempt of court.  This was for

 07           an incident that occurred on June 25th, 2004.  Do

 08           you recall why you were supposed to be -- why you

 09           were in court or were supposed to be in court

 10           that day?

 11                         MR. WILKINS:  I can't remember.

 12                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  The

 13           next conviction we need to speak about, there's

 14           one from October 25th, 2005 in the Portsmouth JDR

 15           Court.  You were found guilty of a misdemeanor

 16           for contempt of court and this is for an incident

 17           that occurred on May 3rd, 2005.  Do you recall

 18           what happened that lead to that conviction?

 19                         MR. WILKINS:  That?  If I had any

 20           contempt, I probably was already incarcerated.

 21           They probably just didn't know I was in there, so

 22           that's probably why I got contempts on my file.

 23                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  For not

 24           showing up, you believe?

 25                         MR. WILKINS:  Yeah, because I was
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 01           probably already locked up.  They probably had to

 02           look into it and they probably got new dates, but

 03           they probably never changed it on the system.

 04                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  The next

 05           conviction that we need to speak about is from

 06           March 15th, 2007 in the Chesapeake Circuit Court.

 07           You were found guilty of possession of controlled

 08           substances and this is a felony and this is for

 09           an incident this occurred on May 16th, 2006.  It

 10           looks like five years were imposed with three

 11           years suspended along with restitution and

 12           indefinite probation.  Can you tell me

 13           specifically what happened that lead to that

 14           conviction?

 15                         MR. WILKINS:  In 2007?

 16                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Yes, 2007.

 17                         MR. WILKINS:  We were riding in the

 18           car and we got pulled over and had some narcotics

 19           in my pocket.

 20                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Had what?

 21                         MR. WILKINS:  Narcotics.

 22                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Narcotics,

 23           okay.  Do you recall what you had on you at the

 24           time?

 25                         MR. WILKINS:  Crack cocaine and
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 01           marijuana.

 02                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And was

 03           it your car that you were driving?

 04                         MR. WILKINS:  No, ma'am.

 05                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  You were just

 06           a passenger?

 07                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 08                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So you were

 09           required to serve two years for that conviction?

 10                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 11                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Did you serve

 12           the full two or was it shortened?

 13                         MR. WILKINS:  I mean, once I get to

 14           where -- I stayed in there because I had another

 15           charge.  I only got out for maybe two weeks and

 16           they picked me back up.

 17                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Do you

 18           recall having to pay restitution as a result of

 19           that conviction?

 20                         MR. WILKINS:  I'm paying on all my

 21           fines so I just look at it and I don't know what

 22           I'm paying on.  I just pay everything.

 23                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So you're

 24           currently working on paying this stuff off?

 25                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.
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 01                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  We'll go

 02           through that a little bit more in detail in a

 03           minute.  I just wanted to ask about it since it

 04           was in there.  The next conviction is from May

 05           1st, 2007, in the South Hampton Circuit Court.

 06           You were found guilty of breaking and entering with

 07           intent to commit a felony and this was for an

 08           incident that occurred on January 19, 2006.

 09                              On that same date, you were

 10           also found guilty of another felony of breaking

 11           and entering with intent to commit a felony.

 12           Grand larceny.  Another conviction for grand

 13           larceny and another one and then another

 14           conviction for breaking and entering with the

 15           intent to commit a felony.

 16                              So there were three

 17           convictions for grand larceny and three for

 18           breaking and entering with the intent to commit a

 19           felony.  It looks like for all of these, you were

 20           sentenced to five years with three years and six

 21           months suspended.  Can you tell me specifically

 22           what happened that lead to those convictions?

 23                         MR. WILKINS:  Well, my brother, we

 24           were supposed to be going to Carolina to his

 25           cousin's house and that's when we were riding
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 01           around and I thought we were at his cousin's

 02           house, but it wasn't and they broke in the house,

 03           basically.  But they convicted, I guess, me and

 04           another guy, cause there were four guys, with the

 05           rest of the charges because it was only that one

 06           house but they tried to make it a closed case,

 07           you know what I'm saying?  Just like someone went

 08           and robbed all 7-Elevens and somebody get caught

 09           for that one, they going to charge you with all

 10           of them, so basically I got railroaded.

 11                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So there was

 12           only one house that was broken into, but the way

 13           that I'm understanding, is that there were likely

 14           others in the neighborhood or something and so

 15           you all were convicted for all of them in order

 16           to try closing those other cases?

 17                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 18                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  But there was

 19           one house that was broken into by your brother

 20           and were they friends of yours at the time?

 21                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, sir.

 22                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And do you

 23           know what was taken from the house?

 24                         MR. WILKINS:  Like money, games,

 25           and jewelry.
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 01                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And it

 02           doesn't look like there was, at least there is no

 03           conviction for it, nobody was in the house at the

 04           time?

 05                         MR. WILKINS:  No, ma'am.

 06                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  So

 07           nobody was injured.  I'm sorry, it looks like

 08           they're going back to that same date of May 1st,

 09           2007.  It looks like there were another two

 10           convictions, one for grand larceny and one for

 11           breaking and entering with the intent to commit a

 12           felony, so it goes to what you were saying before

 13           like the other cases in the area?

 14                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 15                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And this says

 16           South Hampton Circuit Court.  You mentioned you

 17           were going to Carolina.  Is that what you said

 18           earlier?

 19                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.  Yes.  We were

 20           supposed to be going to Carolina but, you know, I

 21           don't get out, so I didn't know why we were going

 22           there.

 23                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And

 24           there's two notes on here that shows another two

 25           charges from around that same time, breaking and
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 01           entering and then grand larceny, but it says the

 02           disposition is unavailable for those.  Besides

 03           the eight convictions that we spoke about, the

 04           four grand larcenies and the four breaking and

 05           entering, were there any other convictions or

 06           were those eight all of them?

 07                         MR. WILKINS:  Those eight were all

 08           of them.

 09                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  How long did

 10           you end up serving for those eight convictions?

 11                         MR. WILKINS:  Fifteen years, three

 12           weeks and three days.

 13                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And were you

 14           recently released from probation?

 15                         MR. WILKINS:  I'm on supervised

 16           probation.

 17                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  You're still

 18           on supervised?

 19                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 20                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  How long are

 21           you going to be on supervised probation?

 22                         MR. WILKINS:  Depends on when I --

 23           they said till I pay my restitution off.

 24                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Do you

 25           know how much restitution you have remaining at

�0023

 01           this time?

 02                         MR. WILKINS:  15,000 and something.

 03                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And are you

 04           currently on a payment plan?

 05                         MR. WILKINS:  I just go pay $100 a

 06           month.

 07                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  $100 a month?

 08                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 09                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  What

 10           are the terms of your supervised probation?  What

 11           do you have to do for that currently?

 12                         MR. WILKINS:  Just keep a job and

 13           be good.

 14                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Do you

 15           have to submit to any urine analysis screens as

 16           part of that?

 17                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 18                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Then

 19           there's one other conviction here that I need to

 20           touch on.  It's from July 2, 2007, in the

 21           Portsmouth Circuit Court.  You were convicted of

 22           revocation of your suspended sentence and

 23           probation, which is a felony, and that was for --

 24           it shows the incident as April 30, 2007.  Your

 25           previous probation was revoked due to the grand
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 01           larceny and breaking and entering convictions?

 02                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 03                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  How

 04           much did you owe originally on your restitution?

 05           I know you've been paying on that for a while?

 06                         MR. WILKINS:  I think maybe like

 07           probably like seventeen something.

 08                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  So

 09           original it was around 17,000?

 10                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am, and court

 11           cost was maybe like 7,000.

 12                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  7,000 in

 13           addition to the seventeen?

 14                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 15                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  When

 16           you're paying the $100 is that solely to the

 17           restitution or is that split between court costs

 18           and restitution?

 19                         MR. WILKINS:  I pay a $100 on both

 20           of them.

 21                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So a hundred

 22           for one and a hundred for the other?

 23                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 24                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And so in

 25           reality, you're paying two hundred a month?

�0025

 01                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 02                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  You've

 03           now applied for your asbestos supervisor license.

 04           What are your plans moving forward if you're

 05           granted that license?

 06                         MR. WILKINS:  Well, just keep

 07           working with AIM Services and then eventually try

 08           to get my own company because I like what I do

 09           and it keeps me out of the way.  I just like

 10           working.  I found something I like doing.

 11                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Can you

 12           describe for me a little bit about what you do in

 13           that role?

 14                         MR. WILKINS:  I do demolition.

 15                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And what was

 16           the company you said you worked for.

 17                         MR. WILKINS:  AIM Services.

 18                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  A-M-E-S?

 19                         MR. WILKINS:  A-I-M.

 20                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  A-I-M.  How

 21           long have you been working for them?

 22                         MR. WILKINS:  Like a year

 23           and-a-half.

 24                         MS. JONES:  It's almost been two

 25           years.
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 01                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Prior to

 02           working for AIM, can you walk me through some of

 03           the places you've worked at since your release

 04           from incarceration?

 05                         MS. JONES:  He worked there since

 06           release.

 07                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  I'm sorry?

 08                         MS. JONES:  He's been working there

 09           since he's been released.

 10                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  With AIM?

 11                         MS. JONES:  Uh-huh.

 12                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Where

 13           did you work prior to incarceration?

 14                         MR. WILKINS:  Before I got locked

 15           up?

 16                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Yes.

 17                         MR. WILKINS:  Basically, like wash

 18           cars and, you know, detailing.  You know, like,

 19           pressure washing houses and stuff like that.

 20                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Did you

 21           do this on your own or were you working for a

 22           company?

 23                         MR. WILKINS:  No, I was working for

 24           someone.  Someone come and picked me up.  They

 25           had their own company and they would pick me up
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 01           and I worked with them.

 02                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  How long did

 03           you do that approximately?

 04                         MR. WILKINS:  Maybe six and eight

 05           months.

 06                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  This

 07           was right before you were incarcerated?

 08                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 09                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Any other

 10           employment prior to being incarcerated?

 11                         MR. WILKINS:  No, ma'am.

 12                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  What do you

 13           think you've learned following your convictions?

 14                         MR. WILKINS:  A whole lot.  Be

 15           smart about everything that you do.  You only get

 16           one life.  You don't realize it until, I guess,

 17           you're incarcerated and the ones that really mean

 18           something to you, once they leave you, you can't

 19           see them anymore.  The people you think are your

 20           friends and stuff, they're not your friends.

 21                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Kind of off

 22           that topic of friends or on the topic of friends,

 23           I know with the last convictions, it sound like

 24           you were mixed up with, you know, a situation

 25           where people were going to do something illegal.
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 01           Has that changed, like the people you surround

 02           yourself with now?

 03                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.  I only

 04           be around family or my fiance.  I don't hang out

 05           with no one.  That's the best way.

 06                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  I know

 07           you had a couple of instances dealing with drugs.

 08           Did you ever suffer from drug addiction?

 09                         MR. WILKINS:  No, ma'am.

 10                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  When you had

 11           it on you, were you selling it at the time?

 12                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 13                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  While

 14           you were incarcerated or even before with any of

 15           the other convictions, were you ever required to

 16           complete any rehabilitative programs?

 17                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, I took Thinking

 18           for a Change.  I was going to school.

 19                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  You mentioned

 20           school.  What were you going to school for?

 21                         MR. WILKINS:  Get my GED.

 22                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  When did you

 23           receive that?

 24                         MR. WILKINS:  I still ain't got it.

 25                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Did you take
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 01           any trade classes while you were incarcerated?

 02                         MR. WILKINS:  You know, janitorial.

 03                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Was that your

 04           job while incarcerated?

 05                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 06                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Did you have

 07           any other jobs while you were incarcerated?

 08                         MR. WILKINS:  No, ma'am.

 09                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Any other

 10           classes you took while you were incarcerated?

 11                         MR. WILKINS:  No, ma'am.  Yes,

 12           forklift.  I got my forklift license.  I got

 13           lifter's license.

 14                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  What type, I'm

 15           sorry?

 16                         MR. WILKINS:  Lifters.  You know

 17           like, a company when they got -- you know, like,

 18           the light poles when they got lifters that do

 19           stuff like that, I got a license for that and I

 20           got my flagger's license.

 21                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Flagger's?

 22                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, and a floor

 23           technician.

 24                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Well, can you

 25           tell me -- I don't know what that means.
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 01                         MR. WILKINS:  A floor technician?

 02                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  A fluid

 03           technician, yes.

 04                         MR. WILKINS:  I said floor

 05           technician.

 06                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Floor.  Floor.

 07                         MR. WILKINS:  And a flagger is, you

 08           know, the guys that stand there and move the

 09           signs.

 10                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Oh, yeah.  Any

 11           other certifications or licenses that you have?

 12                         MR. WILKINS:  No, ma'am.

 13                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  When

 14           did you get your forklift and lifters licenses?

 15                         MR. WILKINS:  Incarcerated.  Like,

 16           I guess, six months to my release.

 17                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Were you ever

 18           required to take any AA or NA classes while

 19           incarcerated?

 20                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, the Thinking for

 21           a Change.

 22                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Just that one?

 23                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 24                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Anything that

 25           you've done outside of incarceration?  I know you
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 01           didn't have any DUIs, but like in Virginia, like

 02           some people take ASAP and stuff like that?

 03                         MR. WILKINS:  Yeah, I had to take

 04           One-stop Traffic Improvement.

 05                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Anything else?

 06                         MR. WILKINS:  No, ma'am.

 07                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And so you

 08           said you've been working with AIM for almost two

 09           years now?

 10                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 11                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Is your

 12           current role a supervisor or is that what you're

 13           trying to move into at this point?

 14                         MR. WILKINS:  I guess by us taking

 15           this class, I guess, AIM automatically makes us

 16           supervisors as we get the cards to move forward.

 17                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So as you get

 18           your license, you can then move forward into a

 19           supervisory role?

 20                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 21                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And you

 22           wish to continue working with them long-term?

 23                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am, and see

 24           how everything is going until I can see if I can

 25           start my own business.

�0032

 01                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And you

 02           would do demolition with that as well?

 03                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.

 04                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And start your

 05           own business?

 06                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 07                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Have

 08           you ever held any other professional licenses in

 09           the State of Virginia outside of the forklift

 10           license or anything like that?

 11                         MR. WILKINS:  No, ma'am.

 12                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  You

 13           have your fiance here.  Is there anything you

 14           would like to speak about who Mr. Wilkins is

 15           today, the type of person he is?

 16                         MS. JONES:  He's not who he used to

 17           be.  Like he said, we basically together every

 18           day all day.  We try to start a business, me and

 19           him.  We try to keep positive.  He's a positive

 20           person.  We have grandchildren now and they look

 21           up to him.  He got time for them.  The street

 22           life, he don't even indulge no more.  This is a

 23           moving forward thing.  So as long as he try to

 24           move forward, I'm going to have his back in a

 25           positive role.  You know, he's applied for his
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 01           LLC already.

 02                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Is this for

 03           the demolition business that you want to start?

 04                         MS. JONES:  Yes, we already got

 05           started.  We have business cards already, so

 06           everything is basically in the move, but he's

 07           trying to get his license so he can be licensed

 08           for it and, you know, he can go in and he's

 09           licensed so other people can work under him as

 10           long as he's licensed.  We're just trying to

 11           basically get a business off the around so he can

 12           stay positive cause he's done enough time.  He's

 13           too old for that.

 14                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Would you like

 15           to -- when the Board is considering this, they'll

 16           read the transcript.  Is there anything that you

 17           would like to say that you would like the Board

 18           to know as far as the person you were at the time

 19           these incidents occurred versus now?

 20                         MR. WILKINS:  I just want the Board

 21           to look at me as a changed person and in the

 22           future, you'll will see that I have changed if

 23           you want to look me up or whatever and see that I

 24           went about my business.

 25                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  It
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 01           looks like here that you completed your forty

 02           hours asbestos supervisory initial course back

 03           last year; is that correct?

 04                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 05                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Ms.

 06           Dumas, do you have any questions?

 07                         MS. DUMAS:  Just one question.  Can

 08           you tell me a little bit more about how you

 09           became interested in the demolition and asbestos

 10           industry?

 11                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes.  It's more like

 12           you're destroying things.  It's basically like

 13           easy work to me.  So even if you were mad at

 14           somebody or not mad at somebody, if it's

 15           something that you like to do, it's easy cause

 16           you just basically destroy stuff.

 17                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And I'm sure

 18           that can be a little therapeutic as well.

 19                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.  Like I

 20           said, if you're going through things and this is

 21           your job, you take it out on your job.  It never

 22           hurts no one.  You don't take it out on no one.

 23                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Just a minute

 24           to look at my notes here.  Is there anything else

 25           that I haven't ask that you would like the Board
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 01           to consider when looking at your application?

 02                         MR. WILKINS:  Like she said, I

 03           guess, spend time with the kids.  I do a lot for

 04           the kids.

 05                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And these are

 06           the grandkids?

 07                         MR. WILKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

 08                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  How many do

 09           you have?

 10                         MR. WILKINS:  Grandkids and my kids

 11           as well.  I have kids as well that I look out

 12           for.  Both of my sons basically stay in trouble,

 13           but I'm trying to get them in the right path and

 14           tell me this is not what you think it is.

 15                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Well, if

 16           there's nothing further, then let me explain the

 17           process going forward.  Based upon everything

 18           I've heard and everything I've read, I'll put my

 19           thoughts together into a written recommendation.

 20           That recommendation will be mailed to you along

 21           with a letter letting you know the date and time

 22           where the full Board will meet to make a final

 23           decision on your application.

 24                              You're welcome to attend that

 25           Board meeting, but you do not have to.  If you do
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 01           attend the Board meeting, generally what happens

 02           is the Board will give you approximately five

 03           minutes to speak to the full Board before they

 04           make their final decision.  If you do not attend

 05           or you're unable to do so, the Board will follow

 06           up with you in writing a few days following the

 07           Board meeting.  If you do attend the Board

 08           meeting, you would know the outcome of your

 09           application that same day because the Board votes

 10           right then and there.

 11                              One thing you need to

 12           understand is I can recommend yes and the full

 13           Board could say no or the other way around.  It's

 14           a majority vote of the full Board that makes the

 15           final decision.  Do you have any question

 16           regarding that?

 17                         MR. WILKINS:  No, ma'am.

 18                         MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  If

 19           there's nothing further, thank you for your time

 20           and I'll conclude the conference and we're off

 21           record.

 22                         NOTE:  The hearing concluded at

 23           11:55 a.m.

 24  

 25  
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 01                           NOTE: The hearing commences at

 02  11:02 a.m., as follows:

 03                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Good morning.

 04  My name is Julie Jackson-Bailey.  I'm a designee of the board.

 05  This is an informal fact-finding conference to hear additional

 06  information regarding the regulatory issues involved with your

 07  application for licensure.

 08                           Assisting with the IFF conference

 09  today is Christina Dumas.  Additionally, we have a court

 10  reporter present.  The court reporter will make a transcript

 11  of everything that is said here today and that transcript will

 12  become an official part of your file.

 13                           I now convene the conference to accept

 14  presentation from those individuals who are present.

 15                           A couple of housekeeping items before

 16  we begin.  If you will please speak loudly and clearly so that

 17  the court reporter can hear you and so that I can hear you.

 18  Luckily, we're in a little bit of a smaller room today, so it

 19  shouldn't be a problem.

 20                           Additionally, if Ms. Dumas or I are

 21  attempting to ask you a question, if you will please let us ask

 22  the entire question before you begin responding.  That way

 23  we're not speaking over each other and that's for the clarity

 24  of the transcript.  Okay?

 25                           NOTE:  Mr. Black nods his head.
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 01                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  At this time,

 02  if you could please state your full name and mailing address

 03  for the record.

 04                           MR. BLACK:  Brandon Jerry Otis Black.

 05  1301 Stoney Ridge Boulevard, Unit 102, Forest, Virginia 24551.

 06                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Thank you.

 07                           And, Ms. Dumas, will you please

 08  introduce the exhibits?

 09                           MS. DUMAS:  Yes.

 10                           Board Exhibit 1 is the informal

 11  fact-finding conference referral memorandum along with the

 12  application and supporting documents.

 13                           Board Exhibit 2 is notice of the

 14  informal fact-finding conference dated April 14, 2023 and

 15  notice of UPS delivery dated April 18, 2023.

 16                           Black Exhibit 1 is e-mail correspondence

 17  and Mr. Black's resumé.  Black Exhibit 2 is the restoration

 18  of civil rights by Governor Northam dated November 5, 2021.

 19                           Black Exhibit 3 is a letter from

 20  the Suffolk Police Department.  Black Exhibit 4 is certificates

 21  of completion.

 22                           Black Exhibit 5 is approval of

 23  Mr. Black's application for appointment as a notary public

 24  dated December 20, 2021.  And Black Exhibit 6 is restitution

 25  payment documents.
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 01                           Those are all the exhibits.

 02                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Thank you.

 03                           Mr. Black, you were referred for an

 04  IFF conference today because you indicated on your application

 05  for licensure that you had a past criminal conviction.  So,

 06  what we'll do is we'll talk about that conviction today,

 07  some of your background and then your plans moving forward

 08  if you are granted licensure.  Okay?

 09                           MR. BLACK:  Yeah.

 10                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  It looks like

 11  there's only been one conviction in your history.  Is that

 12  correct?

 13                           MR. BLACK:  That's correct.

 14                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And that was

 15  February 13, 2017 in the United States District Court for the

 16  Southern District of West Virginia.  You were convicted of

 17  willful failure to collect or pay over taxes, a felony.  And

 18  this was for incidents that occurred between 2006 and the

 19  second quarter of 2015 and during the third quarter of 2011

 20  it looks like.

 21                           You were sentenced to 24 months of

 22  incarceration followed by three years of supervised probation

 23  and payment of restitution in the amount of $632,538.18.

 24                           I've read the file, so I know a little

 25  bit of the background as to what happened and why you ended
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 01  up in this, but why don't you talk me through it and then

 02  that way if I have any questions or want clarity on anything

 03  you can provide that, okay?

 04                           MR. BLACK:  Sure.  So, just the facts

 05  of the case or kind of the situation that led up to it?

 06                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Situation that

 07  led up to it and the facts of the case would be great.

 08                           MR. BLACK:  Sure.  Sure.

 09                           Okay, so whenever I was 21 years

 10  old I started a security company as a side job.  I was a

 11  police officer and I also managed a few government housing

 12  projects.

 13                           I started this company just kind of

 14  as a way to make extra money and it ended up growing into

 15  something a lot bigger than I had ever anticipated.

 16                           I had a high school diploma.  I went

 17  to college.  I started college when I was 16, but I never

 18  finished.  So, whenever I started this company, I guess I

 19  didn't really know everything that I was doing.  I knew how

 20  to do security and I knew that aspect of it, but I didn't

 21  know the actual business side of things.

 22                           And so several years later I --

 23  whenever I had a decent amount of employees, I realized that

 24  I wasn't paying my employment taxes, and at that point,

 25  at that point I was kind of so far in that it's kind of
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 01  one of those things that I kept telling myself okay, well,

 02  once I get this check then I'll submit everything I'm supposed

 03  to and pay up and, you know, I just neglected to do it until

 04  the gig was up.

 05                           I had gotten, I had gotten really

 06  big.  We were doing a lot of large events.  The governor of

 07  West Virginia now but prior to him being the governor, I was

 08  actually his head of security.  And so, I was kind of -- my

 09  name was on the front line of a target.

 10                           I mean, I did what I did, I mean,

 11  so it wasn't -- but that's just kind of how I got wrapped up

 12  in it.

 13                           Whenever the IRS -- the IRS and the

 14  FBI came to a trooper friend of mine and wanted to talk to me.

 15  Whenever we sat down, honest, I'd been doing what I'd been

 16  doing so long, we were halfway through the questioning before

 17  I even realized what they were talking to me about.  I

 18  honestly thought that we were having a conversation -- we

 19  were going to have a conversation about a private eye case

 20  that I'd worked or something.  Halfway through the questioning I

 21  kind of realized oh, my gosh, I'm doing this.  So I got

 22  in a habit of bad habits.

 23                           Whenever they questioned me about it,

 24  I admitted everything that I had done.  Afterwards the IRS

 25  agent, special agent on the case, actually called the
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 01  prosecutor and told him that out of his ten years of doing

 02  it he had never interviewed somebody who had been so honest.

 03  And I owned everything that I did.

 04                           I made bad mistakes whenever I was in

 05  business.  The first time go-around I would undercut jobs just

 06  to keep a competitor from getting it.  I was so insecure and

 07  didn't know who I was that I wanted to make a name that this

 08  kid from Section 8 housing could do it, and in doing that, I

 09  destroyed literally everything that I built.

 10                           I was sentenced to 24 months.  I

 11  actually served ten and a half months.  Whenever I got into

 12  the -- I was at FCI Morgantown at the camp and I got into a

 13  program there that you get time off if you complete the

 14  program and, you know, what kind of started out as something

 15  that I was just doing to, you know, get time off so I could

 16  get back changed my life.

 17                           It was truly -- it was a cognitive

 18  thinking program and so like there was a lot of things in this

 19  program and I'm very proud of it and I've actually went back

 20  to the prison a couple years after I left and talked to the

 21  class that was going through it because it changed so much

 22  for me.

 23                           Things that probably a lot of people

 24  learn when they're in elementary school, just different,

 25  different ways of life.  Like the small things I had never
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 01  learned and I was in my mid-thirties and I'm like learning

 02  this life-changing stuff.

 03                           So I'm glad that what happened

 04  happened.  Like, I'm not ashamed of -- I'm ashamed of what I

 05  did and how I acted.  I'm not ashamed of the repercussions

 06  that I did because it truly -- I went to prison and found

 07  peace.  I found out who I was and it truly saved me.

 08                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Let me

 09  ask you, when you first started your company you said you were

 10  21 years old and you started it as a side job.  How many

 11  employees did you start with at the beginning?

 12                           MR. BLACK:  At the beginning I just

 13  had contract employees, like off-duty police officers.  In the

 14  beginning we were just doing kind of last-minute stuff.  If

 15  they needed an armed guard for -- a company had an employee

 16  threat or something like that.

 17                           I was doing it as much as I could,

 18  and then I was 1099ing a lot of off-duty officers the first

 19  several years.

 20                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  You said that

 21  it grew into something very large.  At that point, how many

 22  employees did you have?

 23                           MR. BLACK:  There was times that I

 24  had 175 to 200 employees.

 25                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And were these
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 01  W-2 employees or contract?

 02                           MR. BLACK:  They were W-2 employees.

 03                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So, just for

 04  clarity, the issue was you were withholding the taxes from their

 05  checks but you never did pay that to the IRS; is that correct?

 06                           MR. BLACK:  I never paid over my

 07  portion of the trust fund tax.

 08                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So, you were

 09  paying over what you withheld from their checks but then not

 10  your part as the employer?

 11                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.  And I wasn't

 12  filing my 941s like I was supposed to.

 13                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  You mentioned

 14  you got into the habit of bad habits and you mentioned that

 15  you would undercut contracts.  What would you say were some

 16  of the other habits that you were referring to then?

 17                           MR. BLACK:  So, I'll never forget it.

 18  It was kind of what just kind of changed -- just kind of clicked

 19  in my head.  So, I mean, I grew up in Section 8 housing.  So,

 20  the first time that we had a decent size job and I remember

 21  I got this check from a big company and it was like a $27,000

 22  check.

 23                           I seen that kind of money and it just --

 24  you know, this lifestyle that -- I seen the 27,000.  I went oh,

 25  that's my money.  It wasn't hey, this is company money.  I'd
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 01  never seen that kind of money before.  So at that point I

 02  started living a lifestyle that I couldn't afford.

 03                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And do you believe

 04  that is part of the reason you didn't pay out these taxes that

 05  you knew you owed?  You were trying to keep up with this

 06  lifestyle that you had created?

 07                           MR. BLACK:  Absolutely.

 08                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  You also

 09  mentioned the program that you were in at Morgantown.  You

 10  said it was a cognitive thinking program.  Can you elaborate

 11  a little bit on that program?  What was the name of it?

 12                           MR. BLACK:  Sure.  It's RDAP is kind

 13  of the abbreviation.  It's a residential alcohol and drug abuse

 14  program.

 15                           While I was -- I've never done drugs

 16  in my life.  During my crime, I had drank.  Like, the IRS made

 17  comments about, you know, we would take -- I would take

 18  customers to a nightclub and we'd run up a thousand-dollar tab.

 19                           So they seen those transactions on my

 20  banking, so because alcohol had been involved in my crime, I

 21  was able to get into that program.

 22                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Can you elaborate

 23  a little bit on what was included with that?  How often did

 24  you have to participate in meetings?

 25                           MR. BLACK:  Oh, absolutely.
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 01                           Sorry.  I didn't mean to overtalk you.

 02                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  That's okay.

 03                           MR. BLACK:  So, there were -- on the

 04  campus where I was, there were, I think, nine or ten different

 05  units and two of them, they called them programming units.

 06  So, everybody that lived in the unit was in the program.

 07                           Monday through Friday every morning

 08  at 7:00 a.m. there were 99 guys in this program and we all

 09  come out.  We'd set our chairs up and it was a very formal

 10  program.

 11                           We would do different things.  We had

 12  issue meetings.  We had to hold each other accountable.  The

 13  program, you know, taught everything from little things like,

 14  you know, our unit always had -- like, we were kind of expected

 15  to be a step above the rest of the compound.  We had to wear

 16  lanyards that identified us in the program because if we were

 17  seen doing something -- a lot of guys would share food on the

 18  compound and that's not allowed.  Anything like that.

 19                           We had to wear the lanyards to

 20  identify that we were in the program because if any of the

 21  COs seen us out on the compound doing stuff that typically

 22  they would let other inmates by with, if they seen us doing

 23  it, we were easy to identify and report back to the doctor

 24  who ran the program.

 25                           So, it was a lifestyle the entire
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 01  time we were there.  We had to participate in different

 02  classes of an evening, like self-run classes.  Like, they

 03  would do NA or AA, Gamblers Anonymous, anger management.

 04  Anything that we thought that we could -- that could help us,

 05  we were allowed to attend these classes.

 06                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Did you attend

 07  any of those?

 08                           MR. BLACK:  I actually attended all

 09  of them except for NA, because I -- I mean, they're all in

 10  the form of a 12-step program, but I had gambled.  You know,

 11  I mean, I'd never like, you know, sold one of my kids to

 12  gamble, but I had gambled.

 13                           So, I attended everything.  You know,

 14  the anger management, I had never been physically abusive,

 15  but the majority of my professional career had been involved

 16  where I always had to be very physical with people.  I was

 17  young and I remember like, you know, I'd arrest somebody

 18  and they'd mouth off and stuff that probably shouldn't

 19  bother me bothered me.

 20                           So, I tried to stay busy the entire

 21  time that I was there.

 22                           At my sentencing whenever it was my --

 23  I had my chance to speak and I told the judge.  I said, you

 24  know, I cannot let this be a negative.  I'm going to take

 25  whatever sentence you impose and I'm going to use it to
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 01  my benefit because if I'm going to be away from my kids

 02  and my life I can't let it be a negative experience.

 03                           So, while I was there not only did

 04  I want to be in a program and everything, but it really

 05  helped time go by fast because time pretty much stands

 06  still.

 07                           And the camp that I was on, it

 08  wasn't like a prison, I guess, like you see on movies.

 09  It was a camp.  We literally only had a CO in our unit

 10  three times a day whenever they did count.  So, it wasn't

 11  like we were heavily monitored.  There wasn't a fence

 12  around the compound.  I mean, it was a very lax setting.

 13  Although, it still sucked and it was a very horrible thing,

 14  it wasn't like, you know, typically people think prison and

 15  they think the big towers and fences, and that just wasn't it.

 16                           So, we were like a residential

 17  community and we all had to hold each other accountable.

 18  Like, if guys, if other inmates were participating in things

 19  and we seen it and didn't bring it up, then we could be

 20  called up for an issue.  And basically somebody would stand

 21  us up for an issue.  They would explain what the issue was

 22  and then -- we weren't allowed to talk.  Then we would

 23  receive feedback from other members of our community and

 24  they would identify the thinking errors that they seen us

 25  struggling with and then they would give us feedback on
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 01  things that they had done to overcome that specific thinking

 02  error.

 03                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And you

 04  mentioned that with this program y'all had issue meetings.

 05  What is an issue meeting?

 06                           MR. BLACK:  Right.  So, an issue

 07  meeting is if they seen me trading food or if say somebody

 08  seen me down at rec talking to guys from another unit that

 09  were participating in trading food, just anything you weren't

 10  supposed to do.  If we didn't make our bunk in time in the

 11  mornings.  We had to be up and our bunks had to be made by

 12  six thirty.

 13                           And they would hold us accountable

 14  for that and that's when they would say, you know -- it was

 15  very formal.  We were all, you know, mister.  And it would

 16  be, you know, Mr. Black, I'm holding you accountable for

 17  cognitive thinking.  And then whenever we would run the

 18  issue meeting, they would explain in detail well, I seen

 19  Mr. Black on the compound.  He paid the barber for his

 20  haircut and that's not allowed.  So, Mr. Black, I see you

 21  struggling with cognitive thinking.  I'm going to bring it

 22  back on myself, and then they would talk about an issue

 23  that they had had in their life.

 24                           And through all that it was, I

 25  guess, therapeutic for everybody because you get up in
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 01  front of a bunch of guys and you talk about things that you

 02  would never in a million years see yourself talking about.

 03                           And the majority of guys there

 04  struggled with some type of trauma from life.  So, we

 05  were all from different cuts of life, so I feel like that's

 06  kind of what helped us learn and grow from each other.

 07                           And we had therapists there, but

 08  they never really got involved unless we got off track

 09  because it was our community.  And the older guys -- like,

 10  we had three phases, phase one, two and three.  So the

 11  phase three guys were on their last section, so they ran --

 12  they kind of helped to run the program and helped the new guys.

 13                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  One of

 14  the things that was obviously a big part of your conviction

 15  was the repayment of the restitution of over $600,000.  I

 16  understand that that has now been paid in full.

 17                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.

 18                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And you provided

 19  us with some documentation showing that.

 20                           What I did want to ask was how did

 21  you go about paying back such a large sum, because you paid

 22  it back in a short amount of time, correct?

 23                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.  I had --

 24  I have -- I'd invested in a lot of rental properties, and

 25  along with my personal house -- my personal house was paid
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 01  off and I had remodelled, so I had a ton of equity in it.

 02  So, I listed everything that I owned for sale and sold off

 03  everything until it was paid.

 04                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  How many

 05  properties did you sell off at the time?

 06                           MR. BLACK:  Over -- I want to say

 07  eight, nine, ten maybe.  I don't remember the exact number.

 08                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So, you would

 09  take the proceeds from each of the sales and pay towards the

 10  restitution?

 11                           MR. BLACK:  They would go directly

 12  from the closing attorney to the Department of Justice.

 13                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Had the IRS

 14  placed a lien on those properties?

 15                           MR. BLACK:  They had.  Well, they

 16  had placed a lien in my name, so it obviously blanketed.

 17                           And I also supplied the release of

 18  lien.

 19                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Give me just a

 20  second to look through here.

 21                           Was -- the release of lien, did you

 22  provide that with the documents yesterday or was that in

 23  the original file?

 24                           MR. BLACK:  I believe it's with the

 25  documents yesterday.
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 01                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And then

 02  you were supposed to have three years of supervised probation,

 03  but you were released early, correct?

 04                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.

 05                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  How early were you

 06  released from probation?

 07                           MR. BLACK:  I believe it was six or

 08  eight months.

 09                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So, six or eight

 10  months early or --

 11                           MR. BLACK:  Early.

 12                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And I

 13  assume one of the stipulations of your being released from

 14  probation was payment in full of the restitution?

 15                           MR. BLACK:  That was actually, I

 16  believe, the only one, because I -- my crime hadn't involved

 17  violence or drugs, so typically other times there's a lot of

 18  other stipulations, but restitution and staying out of

 19  trouble was pretty much the only thing that I had to do.

 20                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  What would you

 21  say you learned following these -- or this conviction?

 22                           MR. BLACK:  A lot.  Importantly, you

 23  know, probably the key most important things are obviously I

 24  learned who I was and that I'll never be above the law

 25  regardless.  I learned, I guess, how to process a lot of
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 01  different things from my past from my childhood, things that

 02  I believe played a role in me trying to live a lifestyle

 03  that I couldn't afford.

 04                           I feel like I was trying to live this

 05  lifestyle to hide other things, so finding out who you

 06  are is a life changing thing.

 07                           I feel like I'm a better father now.

 08  You know, I've set boundaries of work and off time balance.

 09  You know, beforehand I would -- I always coached all my kids'

 10  sports and I always just kind of thought that I was a good

 11  dad because I was there.

 12                           Even though I was there, I wasn't

 13  really there because I was on the phone or I just wasn't

 14  there.  So now, you know, coming back, you know, that was

 15  probably my biggest thing aside from getting my restitution

 16  paid and starting over was the work and dad balance.  Now,

 17  after five, I don't answer my phone.  I don't answer my

 18  work phone.  I'm there when I'm there.

 19                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And some of the

 20  things we can consider when I make the recommendation and when

 21  the board reviews it is your educational background and your prior

 22  work history.  I know you have supplied us with a resumé

 23  and it looks you attended college at Concord College.

 24                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.

 25                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And you said
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 01  you began at the age of 16.  Did you finish?

 02                           MR. BLACK:  I did not.

 03                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And you were

 04  studying political science at the time?

 05                           MR. BLACK:  Yes.

 06                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And then you went

 07  to the police academy?

 08                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.

 09                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  What year did you

 10  complete the police academy?

 11                           MR. BLACK:  I was 18.  I don't --

 12  '01 or '03.

 13                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And when did you

 14  graduate high school?

 15                           MR. BLACK:  I tested out when I was

 16  16, so that would have been '01, and it was '03 for the academy.

 17                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  After you

 18  graduated from the police academy, where did you go to work?

 19                           MR. BLACK:  Initially I was in

 20  Roanoke, Virginia, but then I moved to back to West Virginia

 21  and I worked at Rainelle Police Department.

 22                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So, you worked

 23  in Roanoke from the time that you graduated in '03 until 2005?

 24                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.

 25                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And then it
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 01  looks like you worked for the Rainelle Police Department until

 02  2007, and then that's when you started your security services?

 03                           MR. BLACK:  Right.  I had started

 04  it in '06 and I worked the police department until things got --

 05  I got hurt chasing a psych patient.  I had broke my ankle.

 06  So, while I was off, I had also managed a few government

 07  housing projects.

 08                           So, I was kind of just doing that

 09  and that's when I had the time and really started to grow the

 10  security business.

 11                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And when you say

 12  managing a couple of public housing, does that mean you were

 13  doing the security for the --

 14                           MR. BLACK:  No, I was actually the

 15  manager.

 16                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Oh, the property

 17  manager?

 18                           MR. BLACK:  Yeah.  It had all started,

 19  I had lived onsite because I got a free apartment because I

 20  was an officer, and then I caught the manager at the time

 21  embezzling money, so then I took over the job.

 22                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And it looks

 23  like you had that company, which was Professional Security

 24  Services, until 2017.  Was that the security company that was

 25  involved in this, the criminal --
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 01                           MR. BLACK:  Yes.

 02                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  -- actions?  Okay.

 03                           And then it looks like at the same

 04  time you were also -- well, there's some overlap there.  In

 05  2013 you started managing rental properties.  Were those

 06  the ones that you invested in of your own?

 07                           MR. BLACK:  Yes.

 08                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And those are

 09  the ones that ended up you selling a lot of them to pay off the

 10  restitution?

 11                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.

 12                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And it says that

 13  you're still currently doing that at this time.

 14                           MR. BLACK:  Yes.  I still, I still

 15  have -- I had sold off more whenever COVID hit, but I still

 16  have about 15 units.

 17                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And then

 18  it looks like you also have The Laundry Lounge?

 19                           MR. BLACK:  Yeah, a laundromat

 20  and a building that -- a building that I own.  I had the

 21  apartment above it and it's the, it's the town over from

 22  where I'm originally from.  There's not much there, so it

 23  sat empty forever.  So we -- I had a couple buildings that

 24  we started laundromats in.

 25                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And that's
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 01  still open today?

 02                           MR. BLACK:  It is.

 03                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And then also

 04  looks like you're doing some contracting?

 05                           MR. BLACK:  I have a general contracting

 06  company in West Virginia as well.

 07                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And that's still

 08  currently open?

 09                           MR. BLACK:  It is.

 10                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  What are you

 11  doing with that company?  What type of projects?

 12                           MR. BLACK:  It started off doing a

 13  lot of my own stuff.  Basically, I mean, I would just buy

 14  distressed buildings and remodel them and not sell them but

 15  rent them, rent out.

 16                           Now that I'm not there, we're down

 17  to just like a four-man crew and they do remodels.  I mean,

 18  we've done a few new builds, but typically residential.

 19                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And then you're

 20  also the owner of Asset Protection Solutions.  Is that here in

 21  Virginia or in West Virginia?

 22                           MR. BLACK:  Both.

 23                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And it looks like

 24  you've been in business with that since 2021?

 25                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.  Whenever my,
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 01  whenever my criminal charge hit, I had my West Virginia

 02  company.  I didn't have anything in Virginia at the time, but

 03  I had -- of course, while I was incarcerated I wasn't allowed

 04  to hold any license.  So, I had signed everything over to my

 05  step dad, and whenever I came -- whenever I moved to Virginia

 06  and got my rights restored, the DCJS approved me to hold

 07  security and private eye firm license again.

 08                           So, at that time, I was able to move

 09  my West Virginia company back over as well.

 10                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So, it sounds like

 11  you're currently running four different companies.

 12                           MR. BLACK:  Right.

 13                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And you're now

 14  adding home inspection to the list.  Can you tell me how we got

 15  there?

 16                           MR. BLACK:  I can.  So, when COVID

 17  hit, I realized that I could do what I did at that point

 18  in time with my companies anywhere, and so my children and I

 19  decided to move to Virginia Beach, kind of a fresh start.

 20                           So, everything that I do is remote.

 21  The majority of my companies have been running for years, so

 22  I have a lot of, a lot of people that have been with me for

 23  ten-plus years in place and they run the day-to-day.  So

 24  I pretty much just oversee.  I mean, new contract negotiations,

 25  things like that, I'm involved in.
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 01                           So, I was going to be full-time dad

 02  and just manage my companies remotely, and that was cool for

 03  six months but I'm really, I'm really a hands-on kind of

 04  person.  So, I'd always hated home inspectors.  Whenever I

 05  would sell properties, they were always, they were always

 06  guys that were pointing out stuff that I always thought

 07  because I was a general contractor that I knew it all and

 08  so a buddy of mine that was in the navy had planned to do

 09  this after he retired and I started looking at some of the

 10  materials that he did.

 11                           And construction properties are a

 12  huge chunk of my life and I feel I'm very knowledged in that

 13  area.  Obviously, more so now that I've actually taken all the

 14  classes, but because I like being hands-on, this was something

 15  that I could set my schedule that I wouldn't have -- that I

 16  could be hands-on with but I wouldn't have to carry home and

 17  manage other employees and different things.  This is something

 18  that I could still be dad but basically work Monday through

 19  Friday at.

 20                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  What are your

 21  plans if you are granted the home inspector license?

 22                           MR. BLACK:  To open up -- I mean, to

 23  open up immediately.

 24                           Actually, my son in North Carolina,

 25  he's getting ready to graduate high school, but he's taken
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 01  the class as well because whenever he starts college next fall --

 02  after I kind of got into this, to the classes, I had convinced

 03  him to take the class because he's been working on construction

 04  sites in the summer since he was in junior high.

 05                           So he's taken the class and that

 06  kind of encouraged me.  I was like well, I really want to do

 07  this too, but now he can do a couple inspections a week and

 08  make more than what he would working full time at a restaurant

 09  or something like that.

 10                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So, with getting

 11  this license, you actually do want to be going into the homes

 12  and actually doing the hands-on and that's what you're --

 13                           MR. BLACK:  Absolutely.

 14                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  -- missing from

 15  what you currently have going on?

 16                           MR. BLACK:  Yes.  Yeah, this will be,

 17  this will be my job.

 18                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  I know you

 19  mentioned that you, while working in the construction industry,

 20  didn't like home inspectors.  Tell me what you do like about the

 21  profession now that you're looking at going into it.

 22                           MR. BLACK:  The same thing that I

 23  hated about the guys.  Because it's so much thorough things

 24  that even somebody like me who'd been building houses, new

 25  builds, remodels for ten-plus years, they point out the
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 01  different things.  Stuff that you would never think to look at.

 02                           I've learned so much taking these

 03  classes.  The guy who runs my contracting company back in West

 04  Virginia has probably gotten so sick from hearing me because

 05  I would do the classes and then I would call him that evening

 06  like, hey, did you know this or did you know that.

 07                           I've learned all these little things

 08  that -- and so, for me being a contractor, if these are a lot

 09  of things that I wouldn't notice, a homeowner who isn't in this

 10  field definitely doesn't know a lot of the bigger things that --

 11  so, I've bought houses that I thought were great before and

 12  they turned out to be not.  So, I feel like it's really

 13  helping -- I feel like this job really helps people make

 14  a good financial decision.

 15                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  You've mentioned

 16  some of the other licenses that you've had.  With your

 17  contracting company, do you have a license currently in

 18  West Virginia?

 19                           MR. BLACK:  I do.  I believe I

 20  supplied it.  If not, I can.

 21                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Have you ever

 22  had an disciplinary actions against that license?

 23                           MR. BLACK:  Never.

 24                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Were you

 25  required to report your criminal conviction to them when
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 01  that occurred?

 02                           MR. BLACK:  I was.

 03                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  Did you

 04  do that in a timely manner?

 05                           MR. BLACK:  I started the company

 06  post.  I actually got my contracting license post-conviction.

 07                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  I'm sorry.  I

 08  see that now.

 09                           MR. BLACK:  Yeah.

 10                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  With the

 11  security services in West Virginia, did you have to hold any

 12  licenses for that?

 13                           MR. BLACK:  I do, yes.

 14                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  What licenses do

 15  you have?

 16                           MR. BLACK:  It's a security firm

 17  license with the secretary of state's office.

 18                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And did you have

 19  to report the criminal conviction?

 20                           MR. BLACK:  I did.

 21                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And you

 22  mentioned that while you were incarcerated you weren't allowed

 23  to hold any license; is that correct?

 24                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.

 25                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So, you reported
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 01  it and then did they suspend it or revoke it at the time?

 02                           MR. BLACK:  I voluntarily withdrew it.

 03                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.

 04                           MR. BLACK:  I did that so after

 05  probation and everything I could get it back and it would be

 06  a lot less of a hassle to get a new license versus to overturn.

 07  I notified them whenever my -- before I pled guilty and let

 08  them know what was going on and then withdrew my license.

 09                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And then when you

 10  reapplied for your license, I assume you had to disclose the

 11  conviction; is that correct?

 12                           MR. BLACK:  Absolutely.

 13                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And then you

 14  said that you have a license with the Department of Criminal

 15  Justice Services here in Virginia for security?

 16                           MR. BLACK:  I do.  I have a firm

 17  license, an instructor license, of course, private eye

 18  and a compliance agent license.

 19                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And with your

 20  security licenses in West Virginia and Virginia, have those

 21  ever been subject to discipline?

 22                           MR. BLACK:  No, never.  I've never

 23  had a complaint filed against me.

 24                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Outside of the

 25  rehabilitative program that you did while incarcerated, have you
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 01  completed any others outside of that?

 02                           MR. BLACK:  So, after -- so, while --

 03  so, as soon as you get of prison in the federal system, you

 04  have to go to a halfway house, and while you're there they do --

 05  there's a program that's run by a contract counselling company

 06  and they call it TDAP.  It's basically the post-program of the

 07  RDAP program.

 08                           And there we would go once a week and

 09  kind of the same thing, but they really are more geared on

 10  helping you deal with like real life things.  Temptations.

 11  They kind of help anybody who's struggling to maintain

 12  compliance with their probation.  It's kind of more of a

 13  real life setting I guess.

 14                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.

 15                           MR. BLACK:  And since then -- and also,

 16  I mean, I still talk to a therapist once a month.

 17                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And you said the

 18  program was TDAP, T-D-A-P?

 19                           MR. BLACK:  Correct.  Yes.

 20                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Do you know what

 21  that stands for specifically?

 22                           MR. BLACK:  I know the last is drug

 23  and alcohol program, but I think the T is for transitional.

 24                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  All right.  And

 25  based on the fact that you were released early, I think I know
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 01  the answer to this, but I'll ask it anyway.  While you were

 02  incarcerated, did you have an institutional infractions?

 03                           MR. BLACK:  Never, no.

 04                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Since you were

 05  in an intensive program and also due to the short time that

 06  you were in there, I'm not sure if you would have been

 07  eligible for it, but did you have any institutional employment?

 08                           MR. BLACK:  No.  I would have.  I

 09  took the class and had got my certificate to be a tutor to teach

 10  prison classes, but I had broke my foot while I was in there

 11  and whenever you're on medical you're not allowed to do anything.

 12                           So, my foot didn't heal.  Like, I

 13  didn't get signed off from the doctors until three weeks

 14  before I was released.  So, at that point it -- I took a

 15  bunch of classes while I was in there.

 16                           You know, they offered -- Monday

 17  through Thursday they had different classes that were taught

 18  by other inmates who had got their tutor certificate, and it

 19  was just different things like plumbing or HVAC.  They had

 20  things for -- it was like a dad group just to guys who were

 21  struggling being away from their kids.

 22                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  So, you said

 23  there was different types of classes.  Which ones did you take?

 24                           MR. BLACK:  I look a lot.  I know I

 25  took the residential plumbing, the HVAC.  I did the dad class.
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 01  I don't remember exactly what it was called.  I did the piano

 02  class, physical fitness class.

 03                           And I feel like there's some more,

 04  but I don't remember off the top of my head.

 05                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  That's fine.

 06                           Ms. Dumas, do you have any questions?

 07                           MS. DUMAS:  I was wondering.  You

 08  submitted a letter from the Suffolk Police Department about an

 09  incident that happened at school December 1, 2022.  Can you

 10  tell me a little about that incident and your role?

 11                           MR. BLACK:  Absolutely.  So, the

 12  reason I submitted that was just to kind of show that post-

 13  prison -- of course, the school knew about the conviction,

 14  but they had this program and they actually have it at my

 15  daughter's new school.  It's called the Watch Dog program.

 16                           It's dads who basically volunteer

 17  and they come in the school and they're basically security

 18  for the school throughout the day.

 19                           So, I -- my daughter had had trouble

 20  transitioning, so I volunteered a lot while I was there, and

 21  it was one morning that I wasn't volunteering but I was

 22  dropping my daughter off and I was walking her into school

 23  and a father of another child was dropping off and he was

 24  high and he lunged at one of the teachers, at which time

 25  I grabbed him and I nicely took him to his car and held him

�0034

 01  there until the police officers got there.

 02                           Thirty minutes later he actually

 03  swung at one of the officers and I tackled him on the ground

 04  and helped get him restrained.

 05                           So, the Suffolk police -- it was

 06  something I'd never had, but they sent that letter and they

 07  had an award ceremony, and it was a really nice thing.

 08                           But I wanted to include that not to

 09  toot my own horn but just to show that even after prison, you

 10  know, I'll always be -- there'll always be a police officer

 11  inside of me that wants to help people and do the right thing.

 12                           MS. DUMAS:  Thank you.

 13                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Any other questions?

 14                           MS. DUMAS:  No other questions.

 15  Thank you.

 16                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Is there anything

 17  else that I haven't asked about here today that you would like

 18  the board to consider when reviewing your application and making

 19  a decision?

 20                           MR. BLACK:  Just one thing.  I just --

 21  I mean, I do want to point out, you know, the Department of

 22  Criminal Justice did give me my licenses.  Actually, one of the

 23  certifications on my instructor license is I'm allowed to teach

 24  arrest authority.

 25                           Now, I can't teach anything with
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 01  firearms, but I was actually asked by the Virginia Beach

 02  police academy to teach arrest authority there.  I didn't

 03  because I moved, but being a convicted felon -- and everybody

 04  is aware of it, of course -- the fact that they still asked

 05  me to come back and to teach cadets that, I thought was

 06  a really big thing.  It made me feel really good.

 07                           I know what I did.  I mean, I know

 08  what I did was wrong.  It is my past.  It's helped make me

 09  who I am now.

 10                           And I want the board to know that

 11  while I'm waiting for this process I'm still taking classes.

 12  I've joined all the different organizations for home inspectors,

 13  and every day while my daughter is at school that's what I do.

 14  I take classes.

 15                           I've supplied a ton of certificates.

 16  I've gotten probably two or three more since the last ones that

 17  I submitted and I'm going to keep doing that because I feel

 18  that I can be a really big asset to this profession.

 19                           Homes are my thing.  Construction is

 20  a huge -- has always been a huge part of my adult life, so I

 21  just -- I want them to know, I want everybody to know that

 22  I've made my mistakes for sure, but I would not do anything to

 23  disrespect this profession if they allow me to do it.

 24                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  As far as your

 25  current businesses, what changes have you made?  Have you
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 01  employed new people to make sure that this type of incident

 02  doesn't occur again?

 03                           MR. BLACK:  I do have -- I mean, I

 04  have an accounting firm that handles a lot of our business,

 05  but I -- that handles a lot of the financial aspects, but I

 06  know what I did now and because of the horror stories that I

 07  hear, I guess I -- I went to prison once because of myself

 08  and some of the guys that I met while I was in there were in

 09  prison because of accountants that did the wrong thing.

 10  So I'm still very actively involved in the financial things.

 11                           They do a lot of the paperwork

 12  because I want to make sure it's right, but I also stay

 13  involved and review their work because I'm never going back

 14  to prison, especially not for something that somebody else did.

 15                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Okay.  And I

 16  just want to circle back to one thing.  You had talked about

 17  you were able to get into this residential program about

 18  drug and alcohol because of, you know, what the prosecution

 19  had said about you taking clients out and, you know, having

 20  large bar tabs.

 21                           Do you think you ever suffered

 22  from alcohol abuse or addiction?

 23                           MR. BLACK:  Oh, I definitely abused

 24  it.  I feel that anybody that gets behind the wheel after they've

 25  had a couple drinks, I feel that that's an abuse of alcohol.
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 01                           I abused it very thoroughly.  I didn't

 02  drink every day, but would I have considered myself an

 03  alcoholic?  Absolutely.  Because I abused -- it started out

 04  as a work thing, and then it become something that I just did.

 05                           I don't drink any more.  I haven't

 06  drank since prior to my incarceration, and I know that that's

 07  a boundary that I just, I'm not going to put myself in and give

 08  myself the opportunity to abuse it.

 09                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  And you said you

 10  haven't had anything to drink since prior to your incarceration.

 11  What sparked that decision to become sober?

 12                           MR. BLACK:  Obviously, going to prison,

 13  you can't drink there.  But in the program that I was in, you

 14  know, I -- things that I thought were okay in life before,

 15  driving drunk, because I'd been a cop and I knew all the

 16  local cops so I knew I wasn't going to get a DUI.

 17                           Seeing that from a therapeutic

 18  standpoint and seeing things that I did while I was drunk made

 19  me never want to do that again because I know that I don't

 20  ever want to make those bad decision again.

 21                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Thank you.

 22                           Ms. Dumas, any follow-up questions?

 23                           MS. DUMAS:  No questions.

 24                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Anything else you

 25  would like to say before I explain the process going forward?
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 01                           MR. BLACK:  No.

 02                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Based upon

 03  everything I've heard and everything I've read, I'll put my

 04  thoughts together into a written recommendation.  That

 05  recommendation will be mailed to you along with a letter

 06  letting you know the date and time where the full board

 07  will meet to make a final decision on your application.

 08                           You're welcome to attend that board

 09  meeting, but you do not have to.  If you do attend the board

 10  meeting, the board will give you approximately five minutes

 11  to speak to the full board before they make their final decision.

 12                           Generally what happens is they'll

 13  briefly hear from you, then they'll discuss your case and they'll

 14  vote right then and there.  So, if you do attend the board

 15  meeting, you would find out the outcome of your application

 16  that day.  If you choose not to attend or you're unable to do

 17  so, the board will follow up with you in writing a few days

 18  after the board meeting.

 19                           One thing you need to understand is

 20  I can recommendation yes and the full board can so no or the

 21  other way around.  It's a majority vote of the full board that

 22  makes the final decision.

 23                           Do you have any additional questions

 24  about any of that?

 25                           MR. BLACK:  No.
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 01                           MS. JACKSON-BAILEY:  Well, if there's

 02  nothing further, then thank you for your time and I'll conclude

 03  the conference.

 04                           NOTE:  The hearing concluded at

 05  11:49 a.m.

 06                     HEARING CONCLUDED
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